© 2021 European Mathematical Society

Published by EMS Press. This work is licensed under a CC BY 4.0 license.



Sam Chow \cdot Sofia Lindqvist \cdot Sean Prendiville

Rado's criterion over squares and higher powers

Received June 13, 2018

Abstract. We establish partition regularity of the generalised Pythagorean equation in five or more variables. Furthermore, we show how Rado's characterisation of a partition regular equation remains valid over the set of positive kth powers provided the equation has at least $(1 + o(1))k \log k$ variables. We thus completely describe which diagonal forms are partition regular and which are not, given sufficiently many variables. In addition, we prove a supersaturated version of Rado's theorem for a linear equation restricted either to squares minus one or to logarithmically-smooth numbers.

Keywords. Arithmetic combinatorics, arithmetic Ramsey theory, Weyl sums, smooth numbers, restriction theory

Contents

2.	Introduction	1932
Part 1. The generalised Pythagorean equation		
5. 6. 7.	Induction on colours A pseudorandom Furstenberg–Sárközy theorem The W-trick for squares: a simplified treatment Multidimensional homogeneous Furstenberg–Sárközy Varnavides averaging for supersaturation	1938 1939 1941 1943 1948
Part 2. Rado's criterion over squares and higher powers		
10. 11. 12.	The smooth homogeneous Bergelson–Leibman theorem A supersaturated generalisation of both Roth and Sárközy's theorems Pseudorandom Roth–Sárközy The W-trick for smooth powers and a non-linear Roth–Sárközy theorem Deducing partition regularity	1950 1953 1955 1956 1960

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020): 11B30, 11D72, 11L15

S. Chow: Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, UK; e-mail: sam.chow42@gmail.com

S. Lindqvist: Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, UK; e-mail: lindqvist.sofia@gmail.com

S. Prendiville: School of Mathematics, University of Manchester, UK; e-mail: sean.prendiville@gmail.com

Part 3. Supersmooths and shifted squares	1961
14. Modelling a pseudorandom partition with a colouring	1962
15. A pseudorandom Rado theorem	1964
16. Supersaturation for shifted squares	1966
17. Supersaturation for logarithmically-smooth numbers	1967
Part 4. Appendices	1968
Appendix A. Results on smooth numbers	1968
Appendix B. The unrestricted count and mean values estimates	1969
Appendix C. A generalised von Neumann lemma	1975
Appendix D. Pointwise exponential sum estimates	1976
Appendix E. Restriction estimates	1987
Appendix F. Lefmann's criterion	1992
References	1994

1. Introduction

Schur's theorem [Sch1916] is a foundational result in Ramsey theory, asserting that in any finite colouring of the positive integers there exists a monochromatic solution to the equation x + y = z (a solution in which each variable receives the same colour). A notorious question of Erdős and Graham asks if the same is true for the Pythagorean equation $x^2 + y^2 = z^2$, offering \$250 for an answer [Grah07, Grah08]. The computer-aided verification [HKM16] of the two-colour case of this problem is reported to be the largest mathematical proof in existence, consuming 200 terabytes [Lam16]. We provide an affirmative answer to the analogue of the Erdős–Graham question for generalised Pythagorean equations in five or more variables.

Theorem 1.1 (Schur-type theorem in the squares). *In any finite colouring of the positive integers there exists a monochromatic solution to the equation*

$$x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = x_5^2$$
. (1.1)

This is a consequence of a more general phenomenon. Given enough variables, we completely describe which diagonal forms have the above property and which do not.

Definition 1.2 (Partition regular). Given a polynomial $P \in \mathbb{Z}[x_1, \dots, x_s]$ and a set S call the equation P(x) = 0 partition regular over S if, in any finite colouring of S, there exists a solution $x \in S^s$ whose coordinates all receive the same colour. We say that the equation is *non-trivially partition regular* if every finite colouring of S has a monochromatic solution in which each variable is distinct.

Rado [Rad33] established an elegant algebraic characterisation of partition regular homogeneous linear equations.

Rado's criterion for one equation. Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, where $s \geq 3$. Then the equation $\sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i x_i = 0$ is (non-trivially) partition regular over the positive integers if and only if there exists a non-empty set $I \subset [s]$ such that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$.

A number of authors [Ber96, Ber16, Grah08, DNL18] have sought algebraic characterisations of partition regularity within families of non-linear Diophantine equations. The example of the Fermat equation $x^k + y^k = z^k$ shows that one cannot hope for something as simple as Rado's criterion for diagonal forms. Nevertheless, provided that the number of variables s is sufficiently large in terms of the degree k, we establish that the same criterion characterises partition regularity for equations in kth powers.

Theorem 1.3 (Rado over kth powers). There exists $s_0(k) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for $s \geq s_0(k)$ and $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ the following holds. The equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i x_i^k = 0 (1.2)$$

is (non-trivially) partition regular over the positive integers if and only if there exists a non-empty set $I \subset [s]$ such that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$. Moreover, we may take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$ and

$$s_0(k) = k(\log k + \log \log k + 2 + O(\log \log k/\log k)).$$
 (1.3)

Notice that Rado's criterion for a linear equation shows that the condition $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ is necessary for (1.2) to be partition regular. The content of Theorem 1.3 is that this condition is also sufficient.

For higher-degree equations one cannot avoid the assumption of some lower bound on the number of variables, as the example of the Fermat equation demonstrates. Given current knowledge on the solubility of diagonal Diophantine equations [Woo92], the bound (1.3) is at the cutting edge of present technology. Indeed, it is unlikely that one could improve this condition without making an analogous breakthrough in Waring's problem, since partition regularity implies the existence of a non-trivial integer solution to (1.2).

We remark that one could use the methods of this paper to establish the weaker but explicit bound

$$s_0(k) \le k^2 + 1.$$

This follows by utilising the work of Bourgain–Demeter–Guth [BDG16] on Vinogradov's mean value theorem, eschewing smooth numbers, as in [Cho18].

We are also able to establish the sufficiency of Rado's criterion for other sparse arithmetic sets of interest, such as logarithmically-smooth numbers and shifted squares. For these sets we avoid certain local issues which must be surmounted for perfect powers, and thereby prove stronger quantitative variants of partition regularity, analogous to work of Frankl, Graham and Rödl [FGR88] counting monochromatic solutions to a linear equation.

Theorem 1.4 (Supersaturation¹ in squares minus one). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $s \geq 5$ and suppose that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty I. Define the set of shifted

¹ The term 'supersaturation', from extremal combinatorics, describes when we wish to "determine the minimum number of copies of a particular substructure in a combinatorial object of prescribed size" [NSS18]. For us, the substructure is defined by a Diophantine equation.

squares by

$$S := \{x^2 - 1 : x \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

For any $r \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_0 > 0$ and $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for any $N \ge N_0$ if we have an r-colouring of S then

$$\#\left\{x \in (S \cap [N])^s : \sum_i c_i x_i = 0 \text{ and } x \text{ is monochromatic}\right\} \ge c_0 |S \cap [N]|^s N^{-1}. \tag{1.4}$$

Remark 1.5. For the set of squares minus one, the upper bound

$$\#\Big\{x \in (S \cap [N])^s : \sum_i c_i x_i = 0\Big\} \ll |S \cap [N]|^s N^{-1}$$

follows from an application of the Hardy–Littlewood circle method [Vau97]. Hence, the number of monochromatic solutions is within a constant (depending only on the number of colours) of the maximum possible.

We prove Theorem 1.4 in Part 3 together with an analogous result for logarithmically-smooth numbers.

Definition 1.6 (R-smooth numbers). A number is R-smooth if all of its prime factors are at most R. Denote the set of R-smooths in [N] by

$$S(N; R) := \{x \in [N] : p \mid x \Rightarrow p < R\}.$$

When R is logarithmic in N, of the form $R = \log^K N$, then

$$|S(N; \log^K N)| \sim N^{1-K^{-1} + o(1)}$$
 $(N \to \infty),$

so logarithmically-smooth numbers constitute a polynomially sparse arithmetic set [Gran08].

A recent breakthrough of Harper [Har16] gives a count of the number of solutions to an additive equation in logarithmically-smooth numbers. We are able to extend this count to finite colourings as follows.

Theorem 1.7 (Supersaturation in the smooths). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, and suppose that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty I. Then for any $r \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $c_0 > 0$ and $C, N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $N \geq N_0$, $R \geq \log^C N$ and S(N; R) is r-coloured then

$$\#\left\{x \in S(N;R)^s : \sum_{i} c_i x_i = 0 \text{ and } x \text{ is monochromatic}\right\} \ge c_0 |S(N;R)|^s N^{-1}.$$
 (1.5)

As for shifted squares, we emphasise that the corresponding upper bound in (1.5) follows (when $s \ge 3$) from the methods of Harper [Har16].

1.1. Non-triviality

It may be that (1.2) possesses a wealth of monochromatic solutions for 'trivial' reasons. For instance, if $c_1 + \cdots + c_s = 0$ then taking $x_1 = \cdots = x_s$ yields many uninteresting solutions. We have delineated between partition regularity and non-trivial partition regularity to ensure that Rado's criterion still has content in such a situation. However, since Rado's criterion is necessary for 'trivial' partition regularity, the two notions are in fact equivalent.

1.2. Previous work

To the knowledge of the authors, work on non-linear partition regularity begins with papers of Furstenberg and Sárközy [Fur77, Sár78], independently resolving a conjecture of Lovász—a line of investigation which culminates in the polynomial Szemerédi theorem of Bergelson–Leibman [BL96], proved using ergodic methods. Such methods have also established colouring results for which no density analogue exists, such as partition regularity of the equation $x - y = z^2$ [Ber96, p. 53]. Interestingly, the story is more complicated for the superficially similar equation $x + y = z^2$ studied in [KS06, CGS12, GL16, Pac18].

A recent breakthrough of Moreira [Mor17] resolves a longstanding conjecture of Hindman [Hin79], proving partition regularity of the equation $x + y^2 = yz$. More intuitively: in any finite colouring of the positive integers there exists a monochromatic configuration of the form $\{a, a + b, ab\}$. This result is a consequence of a general theorem which also yields partition regularity of equations of the form $x_0 = c_1 x_1^2 + \cdots + c_s x_s^2$, subject to the condition that $c_1 + \cdots + c_s = 0$.

Notice that all of the above results involve an equation with at least one linear term. There are fewer results in the literature concerning genuinely non-linear equations such as (1.2). Certain diagonal quadrics are dealt with in Lefmann [Lef91, Fact 2.8], using Rado's theorem to locate a long monochromatic progression whose common difference possesses a (well-chosen) multiple of the same colour. This results in the following sufficient condition for partition regularity.

Lefmann's criterion. Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, and suppose that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ with $I \neq \emptyset$. Moreover, suppose that the auxiliary system

$$\left(\sum_{i \notin I} c_i\right) x_0^2 + \sum_{i \in I} c_i x_i^2 = 0,$$

$$\sum_{i \in I} c_i x_i = 0$$
(1.6)

possesses a rational solution with $x_0 \neq 0$. Then the equation

$$c_1 x_1^2 + \dots + c_s x_s^2 = 0 (1.7)$$

is partition regular.

This result reduces the combinatorial problem of establishing partition regularity of (1.7) to a task in number theory: find a rational point of a certain form on a variety determined by a diagonal quadric and linear equation. In Appendix F we derive general algebraic criteria guaranteeing such a rational point using the Hardy–Littlewood circle method.

Theorem 1.8 (Lefmann + Hardy–Littlewood circle method). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, and suppose that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ with $I \neq \emptyset$. Suppose in addition that $|I| \geq 6$ and at least two c_i are positive and at least two are negative. Then

$$c_1 x_1^2 + \dots + c_s x_s^2 = 0 (1.8)$$

is partition regular.

This result does not encompass all equations amenable to Lefmann's criterion: fewer variables may suffice, for instance

$$x^2 + 9y^2 = 2z^2 + 8w^2$$
 or $4x^2 + y^2 = 2z^2 + 2w^2$.

We emphasise that Lefmann's criterion cannot hope to be a necessary condition for partition regularity, as there are partition regular equations for which the auxiliary Lefmann system (1.6) has no rational point of the required form. Such equations include the generalised Pythagorean equation (1.1), as well as the 'convex' equation

$$x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = 4x_5^2 (1.9)$$

addressed in [BP17].

In the same article, Lefmann [Lef91, Theorem 2.6] established Rado's criterion for reciprocals.

Theorem 1.9 (Lefmann). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$. Then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i x_i^{-1} = 0$$

is partition regular over \mathbb{N} if and only if $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty $I \subset [s]$.

This demonstrates the partition regularity of

$$\frac{1}{x} + \frac{1}{y} = \frac{1}{z},$$

answering a question of Erdős and Graham.

If one is prepared to relax the definition of partition regularity, so that certain variables are not constrained to receive the same colour as the remainder, then specific homogeneous equations of arbitrary degree are dealt with in Frantzikinakis–Host [FH14]. For instance, one consequence of their methods is that in any finite colouring of the positive integers there exist distinct x, y of the same colour, along with λ (possibly of a different colour) such that

$$9x^2 + 16y^2 = \lambda^2. ag{1.10}$$

However, for these techniques to succeed, not only must one variable of (1.10) be free to take on any colour, but it is also necessary for the solution set to possess a well-factorable parametrisation, allowing for the theory of multiplicative functions to come into play.

When the coefficients of (1.2) sum to zero, partition regularity follows easily, since any element of the diagonal constitutes a monochromatic solution. However, there are results in the literature which also guarantee *non-trivial* partition regularity in this situation provided that $s \ge k^2 + 1$. This was first established for quadrics in [BP17] and for general k in [Cho18]. In fact in [Cho18] it is established that, under these assumptions, dense subsets of the *primes* contain many solutions to (1.2). Density results were obtained for non-diagonal quadratic forms in at least nine variables by Zhao [Zha17], subject to the condition that the corresponding matrix has columns which sum to zero.

We believe that when the solution set of a given equation contains the diagonal it is more robust with respect to certain local issues—indeed one expects dense sets (such as congruence classes) to contain solutions under this assumption. As a consequence, the local issues for such equations are easier to handle using elementary devices, such as passing to a well-chosen subprogression. The novelty in our methods is that for general equations, instead of tackling the somewhat thorny local problem head on, we show how we may assume our colouring possesses a certain homogeneous structure, and this structure allows the same devices available in the dense regime to come into play.

We remark that it appears to be a challenging problem to decrease $s_0(k)$ substantially below k^2+1 for the density analogue of Theorem 1.3. In order to show that $s_0(k)=(1+o(1))k\log k$ is admissible in our partition result we make heavy use of the fact that a colouring of the positive integers induces a colouring of the smooth positive integers, and we obtain a monochromatic solution to our equation in the smooths. Sets of positive density, however, may not contain any smooth numbers. We are therefore in the curious situation where we can prove that relatively dense sets of smooth numbers possess solutions to certain diagonal equations, but cannot say the same for dense sets of integers.

It is interesting to compare our results with partition regularity results over the primes. Here congruence obstructions mean that one cannot hope to establish a Rado-type criterion. For example, a parity obstruction prohibits Schur's equation from being partition regular over the primes. The situation is markedly different if one considers modifications of the primes with no local obstructions, such as the set of primes minus one. Partition regularity of the Schur equation over this set was established by Li–Pan [LP12], then generalised to the full Rado criterion for systems of linear equations by Lê [Lê12]. This last result utilised the full strength of Green and Tao's asymptotic for linear equations in primes [GT10a], together with a characterisation of so called 'large' sets due to Deuber [Deu73]. Neither of these tools are available, or reasonable to expect, for *k*th powers.

The argument of Li–Pan for Schur's theorem in primes minus one is a direct application of the Fourier-analytic transference principle pioneered by Green [Gre05], elucidated by the same author in the context of partition regularity in a comment² on MathOverflow. This approach cannot hope to succeed for perfect powers, at least when the coefficients

² https://goo.gl/Yjookp.

of the equation do not sum to zero, since one can no longer pass to the same (affine) subprogression in all of the variables. The introduction of homogeneous sets (Definition 2.2) allows us to circumvent these difficulties. However, for squares minus one, or smooth numbers, one need only pass to projective subprogressions when enacting the transference principle. The methods of Part 3 therefore use a direct form of the transference principle analogous to Li–Pan. We include the argument to illustrate the subtleties which must be overcome for perfect powers.

1.3. Notation

We adopt the convention that ε denotes an arbitrarily small positive real number, so its value may differ between instances. We shall use Vinogradov and Bachmann–Landau notation: for functions f and positive-valued functions g, write $f \ll g$ or f = O(g) if there exists a constant C such that $|f(x)| \leq Cg(x)$ for all x. Dependence of the implicit constant on other parameters is indicated using subscripts. This dependence is indicated in the statement of all results, but often suppressed in proofs for notational simplicity. At times we opt for a more explicit approach, using C to denote a large absolute constant (whose value may change from line to line), and c to denote a small positive absolute constant. The notation $f \approx g$ is the same as $f \ll g \ll f$. For f is 1, let f is f is a set, we denote its cardinality by f or f is f is a set, we denote its cardinality by f or f is

Throughout we use counting measure on \mathbb{Z}^d and Haar probability measure on the dual $\mathbb{T}^d := \mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d$. So if $f, g: \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ have finite support then

$$||f||_p := \begin{cases} (\sum_{x} |f(x)|^p)^{1/p} & \text{if } p < \infty, \\ \max_{x} |f(x)| & \text{if } p = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Define the Fourier transform of f by

$$\hat{f}(\alpha) := \sum_{x} f(x)e(\alpha \cdot x).$$

We endow \mathbb{T}^d with the metric $(\alpha, \beta) \mapsto \|\alpha - \beta\|$, where

$$\|\alpha\| := \sum_{i=1}^d \min_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} |\alpha_i - n|.$$

2. Methods

All of the essential ideas required for Theorem 1.3 are contained in the proof of the following finitary analogue of Theorem 1.1, whose deduction is the focus of this section.

Theorem 2.1 (Finitary Schur-type theorem in the squares). For any $r \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $N_0 = N_0(r)$ such that for any $N \ge N_0$ the following is true. Given an r-colouring of [N] there exists a monochromatic solution to the equation $x_1^2 - x_2^2 = x_3^2 + x_4^2 + x_5^2$.

Inspired by work of Cwalina–Schoen [CS17] and Green–Sanders [GS16], we derive Theorem 2.1 in §4 by an induction on the number of colours, in combination with a density result concerning what we have termed *homogeneous sets*.

Definition 2.2 (Homogeneous set). Call a set *B* of positive integers *M*-homogeneous if for any $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$B \cap q \cdot [M] \neq \emptyset. \tag{2.1}$$

Given a set $S \subset \mathbb{N}$, we say that B is M-homogeneous in S if (2.1) holds for all homogeneous progressions $q \cdot [M]$ contained in S. Notice that the latter does not require that $B \subset S$.

Chapman [Cha20] has observed that this is a quantitative variant of what it means to be *multiplicatively syndetic* (see Bergelson–Glasscock [BG16]), and that such sets appear to have a number of interesting properties in regard to the partition regularity of homogeneous systems of polynomial equations.

We leave it as an exercise for the reader to verify that if B is an M-homogeneous set then $|B \cap [N]| \gg_M N$ for N sufficiently large in terms of M, so homogeneous sets are dense (see Lemma 4.2). In fact they are dense on all sufficiently long homogeneous arithmetic progressions.

We demonstrate the utility of this definition by giving a proof of Schur's theorem. The argument is prototypical for that employed in the proof of Theorem 2.1.

Proof of Schur's theorem. We induct on the number of colours r to show that there exists $N_r \in \mathbb{N}$ such that however $[N_r]$ is r-coloured there exist $x_1, x_2, x_3 \in [N_r]$ all of the same colour with $x_1 + x_2 = x_3$.

The base case of 1-colourings follows on taking $N_1 = 2$, so we may assume that $r \ge 2$. Let N be a large positive integer, whose size (depending on r) is to be determined, and fix an r-colouring

$$[N] = C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$$
.

Set $M := N_{r-1}$ and consider two possibilities.

The inhomogeneous case: Some colour class C_i is not M-homogeneous in [N]. From the definition of homogeneity it follows that there exists a positive integer q such that $q \cdot [M] \subset [N]$ and $q \cdot [M] \cap C_i = \emptyset$. On setting $C'_j := \{x \in [M] : qx \in C_j\}$ we induce an (r-1)-colouring

$$[M] = \bigcup_{j \neq i} C'_j.$$

Since $M = N_{r-1}$ it follows from our induction hypothesis that there exist $x'_1, x'_2, x'_3 \in C'_j$ such that $x'_1 + x'_2 = x'_3$. Schur's theorem follows in this case on setting $x_t := qx'_t$ for t = 1, 2, 3.

The homogeneous case: All colour classes are M-homogeneous in [N]. In this case it turns out that every colour class contains a solution to the Schur equation provided that N is sufficiently large in terms of r. To prove this we invoke the following.

Claim. For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $N_0 = N_0(\delta, M)$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ if $A \subset [N]$ has $|A| \geq \delta N$ and $B \subset [N]$ is M-homogeneous in [N] then there exist $x, x' \in A$ and $y \in B$ such that x - x' = y.

The claim settles the homogeneous case of Schur's theorem on taking A = B to be any colour class, since M-homogeneous sets have density at least $M^{-2} + o(1)$ in [N] (see Lemma 4.2; one could have alternatively taken the largest colour class).

To prove the claim we invoke Szemerédi's theorem!³ This yields $N_0 = N_0(\delta, M)$ such that for any $N \ge N_0$ if $A \subset [N]$ with $|A| \ge \delta N$ then A contains an arithmetic progression of length M+1, so that there exist x and q>0 for which

$$x$$
, $x+q$, $x+2q$, ..., $x+Mq \in A$

Notice that $q \cdot [M] \subset [N]$, so M-homogeneity of B implies that there exists $y \in q \cdot [M] \cap B$. Taking x' = x + y establishes the claim and completes our proof of Schur's theorem. \Box It may seem excessive to employ a density result in the proof of a colouring result, since (typically) density results lie deeper and require more work to prove. We have described this approach to motivate our proof of Theorem 1.1, which uses an analogous non-linear density result. We also believe the proof offers an alternative reason for why Schur's theorem is true: there is always a long homogeneous arithmetic progression on which one of the colour classes is multiplicatively syndetic. This exemplifies a well-used philosophy in Ramsey theory that underlying every partition result there is some notion of largeness.

To prove partition regularity of the generalised Pythagorean equation we induct on the number of colours as in our proof of Schur's theorem. The inhomogeneous case follows with minimal change to the argument. In the remaining case we may assume that all colour classes are homogeneous. In this situation we are able to show that every colour class contains many solutions to our non-linear equation by employing the following density result.

Theorem 2.3 (Non-linear homogeneous Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist N_0 and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let $A \subset [N]$ have density at least δ in [N], and let B be an M-homogeneous subset of the positive integers. Then

$$\#\{(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in A^2 \times B^3 : x_1^2 - x_2^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2\} \ge c_0 N^3.$$

Using Green's Fourier-analytic transference principle [Gre05], as elucidated for squares in [BP17, Pre17a], the deduction of Theorem 2.3 is reduced (in §§5–6) to a linear analogue in which the squares have been removed from the dense variables. This can be thought of as a generalisation of the Furstenberg–Sárközy theorem [Fur77, Sár78], extended to homogeneous sets.

³ The claim itself is not deep, for instance it is readily obtained from [CRS07, Theorem 4]. Our proof is designed to set the stage for the general setting of Part 2, when we will invoke the multidimensional polynomial Szemerédi theorem of Bergelson and Leibman [BL96].

⁴ One can give an alternative argument for Schur's theorem based on these ideas, replacing Szemerédi's theorem with van der Waerden's. However, this approach does not seem to generalise to the non-linear situation.

Theorem 2.4 (Supersaturated homogeneous Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist N_0 , $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \ge N_0$ the following holds. Let $A \subset [N]$ have density at least δ in [N] and let B be an M-homogeneous subset of the positive integers. Then there are at least $c_0 N^{5/2}$ tuples $(x, y) \in A^2 \times B^3$ satisfying the equation

$$x_1 - x_2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2.$$
 (2.2)

Our ability to remove the squares from the dense variables is intrinsically linked to the fact that the coefficients corresponding to these variables sum to zero. One consequence of this is that we may restrict all of the dense variables to lie in the same congruence class, without destroying solutions to the equation in the process.

Theorem 2.4 is ultimately derived (in §8) from the following result, which is both more general and at the same time slightly weaker than Theorem 2.4. It is weaker in that it yields only one solution to (2.2), yet it applies to the more general context of multidimensional sets of integers. The increase in dimension allows us to deduce a supersaturation result for (2.2) by bootstrapping the existence of a single solution to the existence of many solutions, using an averaging argument first implemented by Varnavides [Var59].

Theorem 2.5 (Multidimensional homogeneous Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $d, M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists N_0 such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. If $A \subset [N]^d$ is at least δ -dense in $[N]^d$ and B_1, \ldots, B_d are M-homogeneous sets of positive integers, then there exist $x, x' \in A$ and $y_1 \in B_1, \ldots, y_d \in B_d$ such that

$$x - x' = (y_1^2, \dots, y_d^2).$$
 (2.3)

In §7 this theorem is proved using the Fourier-analytic density increment strategy pioneered by Roth [Rot53], a proof which yields quantitative bounds on N_0 . One can deduce the qualitative statement in a few lines from the multidimensional polynomial Szemerédi theorem of Bergelson and Leibman [BL96] (see Corollary 9.1). The general Rado criterion of Theorem 1.3 requires a more complicated density result for which Fourier analysis does not appear sufficient and which therefore necessitates the invocation of this deep result.

3. Open problems

3.1. The supersaturation result

Frankl, Graham and Rödl [FGR88] establish that for any r-colouring of [N], a linear equation $\sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i x_i = 0$ satisfying Rado's criterion has $\gg_r N^{s-1}$ monochromatic solutions. Our methods do not yield the analogous supersaturation result for equation (1.2). We instead find that if N is sufficiently large in terms of M then [N] contains a homogeneous arithmetic progression of length M which possesses at least $\gg_r M^{s-k}$ monochromatic solutions to (1.2). This deficiency is an artefact of our method where, to avoid tackling certain local issues, we iteratively pass to a well-chosen homogeneous subprogression.

It may be possible to establish a supersaturation result if one is prepared to replace the homogeneous arithmetic progressions appearing in this paper with quadratic Bohr sets. Informally, let us call a set *quadratic Bohr homogeneous* if it has large intersection with all quadratic Bohr sets (centred at zero). Then our methods reduce to showing that if *A* is a dense subset of a quadratic Bohr set and if *B* is quadratic Bohr homogeneous, then there are many solutions to the equation

$$x_1^2 - x_2^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2$$

with $x_i \in A$ and $y_i \in B$. A promising strategy for obtaining such a result proceeds by decomposing 1_A according to a variant of the arithmetic regularity lemma developed by Green and Tao [GT10b]. It is in fact this strategy which informs the simpler approach developed in this paper.

3.2. Quantitative bounds

Define the *Rado number* (see [GRS90, p. 103]) of the equation (1.2) to be the smallest positive integer $R_{\mathbf{c},k}(r)$ such that any r-colouring of the interval $\{1, \ldots, R_{\mathbf{c},k}(r)\}$ results in at least one monochromatic tuple (x_1, \ldots, x_s) satisfying (1.2) with all x_i distinct. For linear equations, this quantity has been extensively studied by Cwalina and Schoen [CS17], with near optimal bounds extracted for certain choices of coefficients. In [BP17] it is shown that if k = 2, $c_1 + \cdots + c_s = 0$ and $s \ge 5$ then there exists a constant $C_{\mathbf{c}}$ such that

$$R_{\mathbf{c},2}(r) \le \exp\exp\exp(C_{\mathbf{c}}r).$$
 (3.1)

It is feasible that the methods of this paper lead to quantitative bounds for the Rado number of the equation (1.2) provided that there exist coefficients with $c_i = -c_j$. In this situation, all of the results we employ in our argument can be proved using Fourier-analytic methods, where the quantitative machinery is well-developed. However, these bounds are sure to be of worse quality than (3.1) due to our induction on the number of colours, a feature of the argument not present in [BP17].

If there are no coefficients satisfying $c_i = -c_j$, then any hope of extracting quantitative bounds on $R_{\mathbf{c},k}(r)$ is diminished, since the methods of this paper invoke the multidimensional (polynomial) Szemerédi theorem, a result for which there are no quantitative bounds presently known. It would be interesting if one could avoid calling on such a deep result.

3.3. Systems of equations

Rado [Rad33] characterised when *systems* of linear equations are partition regular. This criterion says that a system Ax = 0 is partition regular if and only if the integer matrix A satisfies the so-called *columns condition* (see [GRS90, p. 73]). We conjecture that the columns condition is sufficient for systems of equations in kth powers provided that the number of variables is sufficiently large in terms of the degree and the number of equations, and that the matrix of coefficients is sufficiently generic. For instance, in analogy with results of Cook [Coo71] we posit the following.

Conjecture 3.1. Let $a_1, \ldots, a_s, b_1, \ldots, b_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$. Then the system of equations

$$a_1x_1^2 + \dots + a_sx_s^2 = 0,$$

 $b_1x_1^2 + \dots + b_sx_s^2 = 0$

is non-trivially partition regular provided that

- (i) s > 9;
- (ii) the matrix $A := \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & \dots & a_s \\ b_1 & \dots & b_s \end{pmatrix}$ satisfies the columns condition;
- (iii) for any real numbers λ , μ that are not both zero, the vector $(\lambda, \mu)A$ has at least five non-zero entries, not all of which have the same sign.

Condition (ii) is certainly necessary for partition regularity, by Rado's criterion. Weakening conditions (i) and (iii) would presumably require improvements in circle method technology.

3.4. Roth with logarithmically-smooth common difference

Using the arguments of §9 one can prove the following (see Remark 9.3).

Theorem 3.2. If $A \subset [N]$ lacks a three-term arithmetic progression with R-smooth common difference, where $10 \le R \le N$, then

$$|A| \ll N \frac{(\log \log R)^4}{\log R}.$$
 (3.2)

When $R = \log^K N$ for some fixed absolute constant K, the set of R-smooth numbers in [N] has cardinality $N^{1-K^{-1}+o(1)}$. Common differences arising from such a set are therefore polynomially sparse, and Theorem 3.2 results in a density bound of the form $(\log \log N)^{-1+o(1)}$.

The argument for Theorem 3.2 really only uses the fact that the R-smooths contain the interval [R], and that A must be dense on a translate of this set, so we are in fact locating a 'short' arithmetic progression. Since smooth arithmetic progressions are much more abundant than short arithmetic progressions, it would be interesting if one could obtain a better density bound by exploiting this.

The only other bound known for Roth's theorem with common difference arising from a polynomially sparse arithmetic set can be found in [Pre17b], which deals with perfect kth powers. This also results in a double logarithmic bound, of the form $(\log \log N)^{-c_k}$ for some small $c_k > 0$. Breaking the double logarithmic barrier for the smooth Roth problem may be a tractable intermediate step towards improving bounds in the polynomial Roth theorem.

Part 1. The generalised Pythagorean equation

In this part we establish partition regularity of the 5-variable Pythagorean equation $x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = x_5^2$. The proof contains all of the essential ideas required for Theorem 1.3 but is more transparent, avoiding notational complexities and the need for smooth

number technology. Unlike the general case, we show that all requisite steps can be established using Fourier analysis, avoiding recourse to deeper results involving higher-order uniformity and the multidimensional Szemerédi theorem. This may be of use to those interested in quantitative bounds and supersaturation.

Throughout this part we assume familiarity with the high-level schematic outlined in §2.

4. Induction on colours

We first derive Theorem 2.1 from Theorem 2.3 by induction on the number of colours. We deduce Theorem 2.3 from Theorem 2.4 in §§5–6, and prove Theorem 2.4 in §§7–8.

4.1. The inductive base: one colour

Definition 4.1 (*T* counting operator). Given functions $f_1, \ldots, f_s : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ with finite support, define the counting operator

$$T(f_1,\ldots,f_5) := \sum_{\substack{x_1^2 - x_2^2 = x_3^2 + x_4^2 + x_5^2}} f_1(x_1) f_2(x_2) f_3(x_3) f_4(x_4) f_5(x_5).$$

We write T(f) for T(f, ..., f).

By Theorem B.1 of Appendix B, there exist $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_1 > 0$ such that for $N \geq N_1$ we have

$$T(1_{[N]}) \ge c_1 N^3.$$

Since the latter quantity is positive, Theorem 2.1 follows for 1-colourings (the base case of our induction).

4.2. The inductive step

Let $[N] = C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$ be an *r*-colouring. We split our proof into two cases depending on the homogeneity of the C_i .

4.2.1. The inhomogeneous case. Let $M := N_0(r-1)$ be the quantity whose existence is guaranteed by our inductive hypothesis. We first suppose that some C_i is not M-homogeneous in [N] (see Definition 2.2). Consequently, there exists $q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$q \cdot [M] \subset [N]$$
 and $C_i \cap q \cdot [M] = \emptyset$. (4.1)

For $i \neq i$ let us define

$$C_j':=\{x\in [M]:qx\in C_j\}.$$

Then it follows from (4.1) that $\bigcup_{j\neq i} C'_j = [M]$. By the induction hypothesis, there exist $y_k \in C'_j$ for some $j \neq i$ such that $y_1^2 - y_2^2 = y_3^2 + y_4^2 + y_5^2$. Setting $x_k := qy_k$ we obtain elements of C_j which solve the generalised Pythagorean equation.

4.2.2. The homogeneous case. In this case every colour class is M-homogeneous in [N]. We claim that Theorem 2.3 then implies that each C_i contains a solution to the generalised Pythagorean equation. First we observe that each colour class is dense.

Lemma 4.2 (Homogeneous sets are dense). If $B \subset [N]$ is M-homogeneous in [N] then

$$|B| \ge \frac{1}{M} \left| \frac{N}{M} \right|.$$

Proof. We proceed by a variant of Varnavides averaging [Var59]. For each $q \le N/M$ the definition of homogeneity gives $B \cap q \cdot [M] \ne \emptyset$. Summing over q then yields

$$\sum_{q \le N/M} |B \cap q \cdot [M]| \ge \lfloor N/M \rfloor.$$

Interchanging the order of summation, we see that

$$\sum_{x \in R} \#\{(q, m) \in [N/M] \times [M] : x = qm\} \ge \lfloor N/M \rfloor.$$

The result follows on noting that $\#\{(q,m) \in [N/M] \times [M] : x = qm\} \le M$. Setting $A = B = C_i$ in Theorem 2.3 we deduce that if $N \ge N_0(M)$ then

$$T(1_{C_r}) \ge c_0(M)N^{s-k}.$$

Since the latter quantity is positive the induction step follows, completing the proof of Theorem 2.1. Note that a quantity dependent on $M = N_0(r-1)$ is ultimately dependent only on r.

5. A pseudorandom Furstenberg-Sárközy theorem

In §4 we reduced partition regularity of the generalised Pythagorean equation (1.1) to Theorem 2.3. In §6 we deduce the latter result from Theorem 2.4. To prepare the ground for this deduction, we first modify Theorem 2.4 to accommodate sets which are relatively dense in a suitably pseudorandom set. The goal is to find the weakest possible pseudorandomness conditions required for such a result to hold. Our primary quantity of interest is the following.

Definition 5.1 (T_1 counting operator). Given functions $f_1, f_2 : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ with finite support and $B \subset \mathbb{Z}$, define

$$T_1(f_1, f_2; B) := \sum_{x_1 - x_2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2} f_1(x_1) f_2(x_2) 1_B(y_1) 1_B(y_2) 1_B(y_3).$$

We write $T_1(f; B)$ for $T_1(f, f; B)$ and $T_1(A; B)$ for $T_1(1_A; B)$.

We begin by showing how Theorem 2.4 implies a result in which the indicator function 1_A can be replaced by a function $f: [N] \to [0, 1]$ with sufficiently large average.

Lemma 5.2 (Functional Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let $f : [N] \to [0, 1]$ with $||f||_1 \geq \delta N$ and let B be an M-homogeneous subset of the positive integers. Then

$$T_1(f; B) \ge c_0 N^{5/2}$$
.

Proof. Let $A = \{x \in [N] : f(x) \ge \delta/2\}$. As $||f||_1 \ge \delta N$ and $f \le 1$, we have $|A| \ge \delta N/2$. Since $f \ge \delta 1_A/2$, we deduce that

$$T_1(f; B) \ge (\delta/2)^2 T_1(A; B),$$

and an application of Theorem 2.4 completes the proof.

Our next step is to weaken the assumptions of Theorem 2.4 even further, replacing bounded functions with unbounded functions which are sufficiently pseudorandom. The pseudorandomness we enforce posits the existence of a 'random-like' majorising function ν , whose properties are given in the following two definitions.

Definition 5.3 (Fourier decay). We say that $\nu : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ has *Fourier decay of level* θ (with respect to $1_{[N]}$) if

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{\nu}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{1}_{[N]}}{\|1_{[N]}\|_1} \right\|_{\infty} \le \theta.$$

Definition 5.4 (*p*-restriction). We say that $\nu : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies a *p*-restriction estimate with constant K if

$$\sup_{|\phi| < \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^p d\alpha \le K \|\nu\|_1^p N^{-1}.$$

Theorem 5.5 (Pseudorandom Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $K, M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0, c_0, \theta > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let B be an M-homogeneous set of positive integers. Let $v : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ satisfy a 4.995-restriction estimate with constant K, and have Fourier decay of level θ . Then for any $f : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ with $f \leq v$ and $\|f\|_1 \geq \delta \|v\|_1$ we have

$$T_1(f; B) \ge c_0 \|\nu\|_1^2 N^{1/2}.$$

Proof. Since ν has Fourier decay of level θ , we may apply the dense model lemma recorded in [Pre17a, Theorem 5.1], rescaling as appropriate, to conclude the existence of $g: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfying $0 \le g \le 1_{[N]}$ and

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll \log(\theta^{-1})^{-3/2}. \tag{5.1}$$

Provided that $\theta \le \exp(-C\delta^{-1})$ with C a large positive constant, we can compare Fourier coefficients at 0 to deduce that $\|g\|_1 \gg \delta N$. Applying Lemma 5.2 then gives

$$T_1(g; B) \gg_{\delta, M} N^{5/2}.$$
 (5.2)

Let h denote the indicator function of the set $\{x^2 : x \in B \cap [\sqrt{N}]\}$. Then for functions $h_1, h_2 : [N] \to \mathbb{C}$ we have

$$T_1(h_1, h_2; B) = \sum_{x_1 - x_2 = x_3 + x_4 + x_5} h_1(x_1)h_2(x_2)h(x_3)h(x_4)h(x_5).$$
 (5.3)

The function h is majorised by the indicator function of the set $\{x^2 : x \in [\sqrt{N}]\}$, which, by Lemma B.3, satisfies a 4.995-restriction estimate with constant O(1).

The function g is majorised by $1_{[N]}$, which satisfies a 4.995-restriction estimate with constant O(1). Employing the generalised von Neumann lemma (Lemma C.3), together with (5.1) and (5.3), we deduce that

$$\|\|v\|_1^{-2}T_1(f;B) - N^{-2}T_1(g;B)\| \ll KN^{1/2}\log(\theta^{-1})^{-3/400}.$$

Combining this with (5.2) and choosing $\theta \leq \theta_0(\delta, M, K)$ completes the proof.

6. The W-trick for squares: a simplified treatment

In this section we deduce our non-linear density result (Theorem 2.3) from its pseudorandom analogue (Theorem 5.5). The heart of the matter is massaging the set of squares to appear suitably pseudorandom. This is accomplished using a version of the *W*-trick for squares, simplified from that developed in Browning–Prendiville [BP17].

It is useful to have a non-linear version of the operator T_1 introduced in §5.

Definition 6.1 (T_2 counting operator). Given functions $f_1, f_2 : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ with finite support and $B \subset \mathbb{Z}$, define

$$T_2(f_1, f_2; B) := \sum_{\substack{x_1^2 - x_2^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2}} f_1(x_1) f_2(x_2) 1_B(y_1) 1_B(y_2) 1_B(y_3).$$

We write $T_2(f; B)$ for $T_2(f, f; B)$ and $T_2(A; B)$ for $T_2(1_A; B)$.

Assuming the notation and premises of Theorem 2.3, our objective is to obtain a lower bound for $T_2(A; B)$ by relating it to an estimate for $T_1(f; B)$, where f is a function bounded above by a pseudorandom majorant ν , as in Theorem 5.5.

Let

$$W = 2 \prod_{p \le w} p^2, \tag{6.1}$$

where $w = w(\delta, M)$ is a constant to be determined, and the product is over primes. By Lemma A.4, applied with S = [N], there exists a w-smooth positive integer $\zeta \ll_{\delta, w} 1$, and $\xi \in [W]$ with $(\xi, W) = 1$, such that

$$|\{x \in \mathbb{Z} : \zeta(\xi + Wx) \in A\}| \ge \frac{1}{2}\delta|\{x \in \mathbb{Z} : \zeta(\xi + Wx) \in [N]\}|.$$

Set

$$A_1 := \left\{ \frac{1}{2} W x^2 + \xi x : \zeta(\xi + W x) \in A \right\} \setminus \{0\}$$

and, noting that $(2W)^{1/2}$ is a positive integer, set

$$B_1 := \{ y \in \mathbb{N} : \zeta(2W)^{1/2} y \in B \}.$$

One may check that B_1 is M-homogeneous, and that there exists an absolute constant C such that if $N \ge C(\delta \zeta W)^{-1}$ then

$$|A_1| \ge \frac{\delta N}{8\zeta W}.\tag{6.2}$$

By the binomial theorem,

$$T_2(A; B) \ge T_1(A_1; B_1).$$
 (6.3)

We note that although the squares are not equidistributed in arithmetic progressions with small modulus, the same cannot be said of the set

$$\left\{ \frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + \xi x : x \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$
 (6.4)

This is the reason for our passage from A to A_1 ; the latter is a subset of the more pseudorandom set (6.4). Unfortunately, the (truncated) Fourier transform of (6.4) still does not behave sufficiently like that of an interval: they decay differently around the zero frequency, reflecting the growing gaps between consecutive elements of (6.4). To compensate for this, we must work with a weighted indicator function of A_1 that counteracts this increasing sparsity.

We first observe that A_1 is contained in the interval [X], where

$$X := \frac{1}{2W} \cdot \left(\frac{N}{\zeta}\right)^2.$$

Define a weight function $\nu : [X] \to [0, \infty)$ by

$$\nu(n) = \begin{cases} Wx + \xi & \text{if } n = \frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + \xi x \text{ for some } x \in [N/\zeta], \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
 (6.5)

Since the results we are about to invoke are independent of the normalisation of ν , we note that we could replace the weight $Wx + \xi$ in the above definition by x, or even by \sqrt{n} . We have chosen to incorporate the more complicated weight in order to make calculations a little cleaner. The weight $\nu(\cdot)$ has average value 1, since

$$\sum_{n \in [X]} \nu(n) = \sum_{x \le \frac{N}{\ell W}} Wx + O(N/\zeta) = X + O(W^{1/2} X^{1/2}).$$
 (6.6)

Lemma 6.2 (Density transfer). For N large in terms of w and δ we have

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} \nu(n) \ge \frac{\delta^2}{256} \|\nu\|_1.$$

Proof. For N sufficiently large in terms of δ and w the estimate (6.2) holds so, with Z > 0 a parameter, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{\frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + \xi x \in A_1 \\ x > Z}} 1 \ge |A_1| - Z \ge \frac{\delta N}{8\zeta W} - Z.$$

Therefore

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} \nu(n) \ge \sum_{\frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + \xi x \in A_1} Wx \ge WZ \left(\frac{\delta N}{8\zeta W} - Z \right) = \frac{\delta ZN}{8\zeta} - WZ^2.$$

Choosing $Z = \frac{\delta N}{16\zeta W}$ gives

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} v(n) \ge \frac{\delta^2 N^2}{256 \zeta^2 W} = \frac{\delta^2}{128} X.$$

An application of (6.6) completes the proof.

The following two ingredients are established in Appendices D and E.

Lemma 6.3 (Fourier decay). We have

$$\|\hat{\nu} - \hat{1}_{[X]}\|_{\infty} \ll Xw^{-1/2}$$
.

Lemma 6.4 (Restriction estimate). For any real number p > 4 we have

$$\sup_{|\phi| \le \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^p d\alpha \ll_p X^{p-1}.$$

Proof of Theorem 2.3. Let K denote the absolute constant implicit in Lemma 6.4 when p=4.995. Let N_0 and θ denote the parameters occurring in Theorem 5.5 with respect to a density of $\delta^2/256$, restriction constant K and homogeneity of level M. Employing Lemma 6.3, we may choose $w=w(\delta,M)$ sufficiently large to ensure that ν has Fourier decay of level θ with respect to $1_{[X]}$. Setting $f=\nu 1_{A_1}$ in Theorem 5.5 yields

$$T_1(\nu 1_{A_1}; B_1) \gg_{\delta, M} X^{5/2}$$
.

Hence by (6.3) we obtain

$$T_2(A; B) \ge \|\nu\|_{\infty}^{-2} T_1(\nu 1_{A_1}; B_1) \gg_{\delta, M} \|\nu\|_{\infty}^{-2} X^{5/2}.$$

This inequality completes the proof of Theorem 2.3 on noting that $X \gg_{\delta,M} N^2$ and $\|\nu\|_{\infty} \ll N$.

7. Multidimensional homogeneous Furstenberg-Sárközy

It remains to establish Theorem 2.4. In §8 we derive this supersaturated counting result from a multidimensional 'existence' result, Theorem 2.5, whose proof is the aim of this section. One can prove Theorem 2.5 succinctly using the multidimensional polynomial Szemerédi theorem of Bergelson–Leibman [BL96]; see Corollary 9.1 for such an argument. One may regard such an approach as overkill, and of little utility if one is interested in quantitative bounds. In this section we opt for a more circuitous approach which demonstrates how Fourier analysis suffices for Theorem 2.5. More precisely, we adapt the Fourier-analytic density increment strategy originating with Roth [Rot53] and Sárközy [Sár78], and show how it may accommodate the presence of homogeneous sets. The structure of our argument is based on Green [Gre02].

Lemma 7.1 (Density increment lemma). Let B_i be M-homogeneous sets of positive integers, and let $A \subset [N]^d$ have size at least δN^d . Suppose that $A \times A$ lacks (x, x') satisfying

$$x - x' = (y_1^2, \dots, y_d^2)$$
 (7.1)

with $(y_1, \ldots, y_d) \in B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$. Then either

$$N < C_d (\delta^{-1} M^d)^C, \tag{7.2}$$

or there exist

- (i) *M-homogeneous sets* $B'_i \subset \mathbb{N}$;
- (ii) a positive integer $N_1 \ge N^c$, where c > 0 is an absolute constant;
- (iii) a multidimensional set $A_1 \subset [N_1]^d$ such that
 - (iiia) $A_1 \times A_1$ lacks tuples satisfying (7.1) with $(y_1, \ldots, y_d) \in B'_1 \times \cdots \times B'_d$;
 - (iiib) $|A_1| \ge (\delta + c_d (\delta M^{-d})^6) N_1^d$.

Proof of Theorem 2.5 given Lemma 7.1. Let us assume that $A \subset [N]^d$ has size at least δN^d and lacks solutions to (7.1) with $y_i \in B_i$, where the B_i are M-homogeneous sets. Setting $A_0 := A$, we iteratively apply Lemma 7.1 to obtain a sequence of sets A_0, A_1, A_2, \ldots , each contained in an ambient grid $[N_n]^d$ with

$$N_n \ge N^{c^n}$$
, $|A_n| \ge (\delta + nc_d(\delta M^{-d})^6)N_n^d$.

If this iteration continues until n is sufficiently large in terms of d, δ , M, we obtain a density exceeding 1, which would be impossible. Hence for some $n \ll_{d,\delta,M} 1$ the inequality (7.2) is satisfied with N_n in place of N therein. Therefore

$$N \le N_n^{C^n} \le (C_d(\delta^{-1}M^d)^C)^{C^n} \ll_{d,\delta,M} 1.$$

We henceforth proceed with the proof of Lemma 7.1. Put

$$B := B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$$
.

let $A \subset [N]^d$ with $|A| = \delta N^d$, and suppose $A \times A$ lacks tuples (x, x') satisfying (7.1) with $(y_1, \ldots, y_d) \in B$.

For $f, g: [N]^d \to \mathbb{C}$, define the counting operator

$$T_B(f,g) := \sum_{x-x'=(y_1^2,\ldots,y_d^2)} f(x)g(x')1_B(y_1,\ldots,y_d).$$

Write $T_B(f)$ for $T_B(f, f)$. With this notation, our assumption is that

$$T_B(1_A) = 0.$$

Let $f = 1_A - \delta 1_{[N]^d}$ denote the balanced function of A in $[N]^d$. Then by bilinearity,

$$T_B(1_A) = T_B(1_A, f) + T_B(f, \delta 1_{[N]^d}) + \delta^2 T_B(1_{[N]^d}).$$

Hence there exists $g:[N] \to [0,1]$ with $||g||_2 \le \sqrt{\delta N}$ and such that

$$|T_B(g,f)| \ge \frac{1}{2}\delta^2 T_B(1_{[N]^d}) \quad \text{or} \quad |T_B(f,g)| \ge \frac{1}{2}\delta^2 T_B(1_{[N]^d}).$$
 (7.3)

Since the balanced function f has average value 0, one can regard (7.3) as exhibiting the fact that f displays some form of non-uniformity. In order to demonstrate this formally we require the following lemmas.

Lemma 7.2 (Homogeneous counting lemma). Let $B = B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$ be a product of *M*-homogeneous sets. Then for $N \ge 64M^2$ we have

$$T_B(1_{[N]^d}) \ge \left(\frac{N^{3/2}}{8M^2}\right)^d.$$

Proof. It suffices to prove the result for d = 1, since

$$T_B(1_{[N]^d}) = \prod_{i=1}^d T_{B_i}(1_{[N]}).$$

If $y \in [\sqrt{N/2}]$ then $y^2 \in [N/2]$, so for y in this interval we have

$$\sum_{x-x'=y^2} 1_{[N]}(x) 1_{[N]}(x') = \#\{y^2 + x : 1 \le x \le N - y^2\} \ge N/2.$$

Summing over y lying in the intersection of this interval with a homogeneous set B, we apply Lemma 4.2 to deduce that

$$T_B(1_{[N]}) \ge \sum_{y \in B \cap [\sqrt{N/2}]} \sum_{x - x' = y^2} 1_{[N]}(x) 1_{[N]}(x') \ge \frac{1}{M} \left\lfloor \frac{\lfloor \sqrt{N/2} \rfloor}{M} \right\rfloor \frac{N}{2}.$$

The result follows provided that N is sufficiently large.

Lemma 7.3 (Generalised von Neumann theorem). Let $f_1, f_2 : [N]^d \to [-1, 1]$. Then for i = 1, 2 we have

$$|T_B(f_1, f_2)| \ll_d N^{3d/2} (\|\hat{f}_i\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)}/N^d)^{1/3}.$$

Proof. We prove the result for i=1, the other case being similar. For $\alpha=(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_d)\in\mathbb{T}^d$, define

$$S_B(\alpha) := \sum_{y \in B \cap [\sqrt{N}]^d} e(\alpha_1 y_1^2 + \dots + \alpha_d y_d^2).$$

By orthogonality and Hölder's inequality, we have

$$|T_B(f_1, f_2)| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} S_B(\alpha) \hat{f}_1(-\alpha) \hat{f}_2(\alpha) d\alpha \right|$$

$$\leq ||S_B||_{L^6(\mathbb{T}^d)} ||\hat{f}_1||_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^d)}^{1/3} ||\hat{f}_1||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}^{2/3} ||\hat{f}_2||_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)}.$$

The result now follows on incorporating Parseval's identity

$$\|\hat{f}_i\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)} = \|f_i\|_{L^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)} \le N^{d/2}$$

together with the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} |S_B(\alpha)|^6 \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll_d N^{2d}.$$

The estimate follows from orthogonality and Theorem B.1 (with $\eta := 1$).

When taken in conjunction with (7.3), Lemmas 7.2 and 7.3 imply that for $N \ge 64M^2$ there exists $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}^d$ for which

$$|\hat{f}(\alpha)| \gg_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 N^d. \tag{7.4}$$

Lemma 7.4 (Fragmentation into level sets). If $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}^d$, $Q \geq 1$ and $P \in \mathbb{N}$ then there exist positive integers $q_i \leq Q$ and a partition of \mathbb{Z}^d into sets R of the form

$$\prod_{i=1}^{d} (a_i + q_i^2 \cdot (-P, P]) \tag{7.5}$$

such that for any $g: \mathbb{Z}^d \to [-1, 1]$ with finite L^1 norm we have the estimate

$$|\hat{g}(\alpha)| \le \sum_{R} \left| \sum_{x \in R} g(x) \right| + O_d(\|g\|_1 P Q^{-1/3}).$$
 (7.6)

Proof. By a weak form of a result of Heilbronn [Hei48], there are $q_1, \ldots, q_d \leq Q$ such that

$$\|\alpha_i q_i^2\| \ll Q^{-1/3} \quad (1 \le i \le d).$$
 (7.7)

We partition \mathbb{Z}^d into congruence classes of the form

$$\prod_{i} (a_i + q_i^2 \cdot \mathbb{Z}),$$

then partition each copy of \mathbb{Z} appearing in this product into a union of intervals of the form 2nP + (-P, P] with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. This yields a partition of \mathbb{Z}^d into sets R of the form (7.5).

If x, x' lie in the same R then $x - x' = (q_1^2 y_1, \dots, q_d^2 y_d)$ for some $y \in (-P, P]^d$, and so

$$|e(\alpha \cdot x) - e(\alpha \cdot x')| \ll \sum_{i=1}^{d} P ||q_i^2 \alpha_i|| \ll_d P Q^{-1/3}.$$

It then follows from the triangle inequality that

$$|\hat{g}(\alpha)| \leq \sum_{R} \left| \sum_{x \in R} g(x) e(\alpha \cdot x) \right| = \sum_{R} \left| \sum_{x \in R} g(x) \right| + O_d \left(\sum_{R} \sum_{x \in R} |g(x)| PQ^{-1/3} \right). \quad \Box$$

Let $P := |N^{1/9}|$ and $Q := N^{3/8}$. Then, provided that (7.2) fails to hold, we have

$$PQ^{-1/3} \le c_d (\delta M^{-d})^6, \quad PQ^2 N^{-1} \le c_d (\delta M^{-d})^6.$$
 (7.8)

With these bounds in hand, we claim that we may apply Lemma 7.4 to (7.4) and conclude that there exists a set R contained in $[N]^d$ and of the form (7.5) for which

$$\sum_{x \in R} f(x) \gg_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 |R|. \tag{7.9}$$

Let us presently set about showing this.

The first bound in (7.8), together with (7.6), implies that

$$\sum_{R} \left| \sum_{x \in R} f(x) \right| \gg_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 N^d.$$

By definition, the balanced function has average value $\sum_{x} f(x) = 0$, so adding this quantity to either side of the inequality gives

$$\sum_{R} \max \left\{ 0, \sum_{x \in R} f(x) \right\} \gg_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 N^d.$$

Inspection of the proof of Lemma 7.4 reveals that the number of R which intersect $[N]^d$ is at most

$$\left(\frac{N}{2P} + Q^2\right)^d. (7.10)$$

Similarly, the number of R contained in $[N]^d$ is at least

$$\left(\frac{N}{2P}-Q^2\right)^d$$
.

Therefore

$$\sum_{R\subset [N]^d} \max\left\{0, \sum_{x\in R} f(x)\right\} \geq \left(c_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 - C_d Q^2 P N^{-1}\right) N^d.$$

The second inequality in (7.8) now implies that

$$\sum_{R\subset[N]^d} \max\left\{0, \sum_{x\in R} f(x)\right\} \gg_d (\delta M^{-d})^6 N^d.$$

By (7.8) and (7.10), the number of R contained in $[N]^d$ is $O_d((N/P)^d)$. An application of the pigeonhole principle finally confirms (7.9).

The estimate (7.9) completes our proof of Lemma 7.1, for if R takes the form (7.5) with $P = \lfloor N^{1/9} \rfloor$ then we may take $N_1 := 2P$, $B'_i := \{y \in \mathbb{N} : q_i y \in B_i\}$ and

$$A_1 := \{x \in [N_1]^d : (a_1, \dots, a_d) + (q_1^2(x_1 - P), \dots, q_d^2(x_d - P)) \in A\}.$$

8. Varnavides averaging for supersaturation

We complete the proof of Theorem 2.1 by deducing the counting result, Theorem 2.4, from the multidimensional existence result, Theorem 2.5. The deduction proceeds by collecting a single configuration from many subprogressions, then establishing that these configurations do not coincide too often. This random sampling argument originates with Varnavides [Var59].

Proposition 8.1 (Varnavides argument). For any $\delta > 0$ and $d, M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. If $A \subset [N]^d$ is at least δ -dense in $[N]^d$ and B_1, \ldots, B_d are M-homogeneous sets of natural numbers, then there are at least $c_0 N^{3d/2}$ tuples $(x, x', y) \in A^2 \times B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$ satisfying (2.3).

Proof. For $q, n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ write $q^{\otimes 2} \otimes n$ for the tuple $(q_1^2 n_1, \dots, q_d^2 n_d)$ and write $q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N]^d$ for the set

$${q^{\otimes 2} \otimes n : n \in [N]^d}.$$

Let $N_0 = N_0(\delta/2^{1+d}, d, M)$ be the quantity given by Theorem 2.5. Suppose that $N \ge N_0$ and write $Q := \lfloor \sqrt{N/N_0} \rfloor$. Averaging, we have

$$\sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \sum_{q \in [Q]^d} |A \cap (z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \ge \delta(NQN_0)^d.$$

By the definition of Q, there are at most $(2N)^d$ choices for z for which there exists $q \in [Q]^d$ such that

$$|A \cap (z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \neq 0.$$

Hence there are at least $\frac{1}{2}\delta(NQ)^d$ choices for $(z,q)\in\mathbb{Z}^d\times\mathbb{N}^d$ for which

$$|A \cap (z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \ge 2^{-1 - d} \delta N_0^d.$$
 (8.1)

Call each such choice of (z, q) a good tuple. Define

$$A_{z,q} := \{ y \in [N_0]^d : z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes y \in A \}.$$

If (z, q) is good then $|A_{z,q}| \ge 2^{-1-d} \delta N_0^d$. Applying Theorem 2.5 we see that there exist $x, x' \in A_{z,q}$ satisfying (2.3) with the y_i restricted to the M-homogeneous sets

$$\{y_i:q_iy_i\in B_i\}.$$

Translating and dilating, we deduce that each set $A \cap (z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d)$) satisfying (8.1) contains a solution to (2.3) with $y_i \in B_i$.

For fixed $(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \mathbb{N}^d$ define R(x, y) to be the quantity

$$\#\{(z,q)\in\mathbb{Z}^d\times[Q]^d:\{x,\ x+y^{\otimes 2}\}\subset (z+q^{\otimes 2}\otimes[N_0]^d)\}.$$

Claim. $R(x, y) \leq N_0^{2d}$.

To see this, observe that if $\{x, x + y^{\otimes 2}\} \subset z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d$ then for each i there exists $m_i \in [N_0]$ such that $y_i^2 = q_i^2 m_i$. As there are at most N_0 choices for m_i for fixed y_i , there are at most N_0^d choices for q. Once one has fixed this choice of q we have

$$z\in x-q^{\otimes 2}\otimes [N_0]^d,$$

so there are at most N_0^d choices of z for fixed x. This establishes the claim. Invoking the claim gives

$$N_0^{2d} \# \{(x,y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times B_1 \times \dots \times B_d : \{x,x+y^{\otimes 2}\} \subset A\} \ge \sum_{\substack{x \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \ y \in B_1 \times \dots \times B_d \\ x,x+y^{\otimes 2} \in A}} R(x,y).$$

Next we interchange the order of summation to find that

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \ y \in B_1 \times \dots \times B_d \\ x, x + y^{\otimes 2} \in A}} R(x, y) \ge \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \sum_{q \in [Q]^d} \#\{(x, y) : \{x, \ x + y^{\otimes 2}\} \subset A \cap (z + q^{\otimes 2} \otimes [N_0]^d)\}$$

$$\ge \#\{(z, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times [Q]^d : (z, q) \text{ is good}\} \ge \frac{1}{2} \delta(NQ)^d.$$

It follows that

$$\#\{(x,y)\in\mathbb{Z}^d\times B_1\times\cdots\times B_d:\{x,\ x+y^{\otimes 2}\}\subset A\}\geq \tfrac{1}{2}\delta N_0^{-2d}N^d\lfloor\sqrt{N/N_0}\rfloor^d.$$

The result follows since $N_0 \ll_{\delta.d.M} 1$.

Proof that Proposition 8.1 implies Theorem 2.4. We prove a more general result for sums of d squares. First note that, by translation, Proposition 8.1 remains valid for dense subsets of $[-N, N]^d$. Given $A \subset [N]$ of density at least δ , define

$$A' := \{x \in [-N, N]^d : x_1 + \dots + x_d \in A\}.$$

For every element n of [-N, N] there are at least N pairs $(n_1, n_2) \in [-N, N]^2$ such that $n = n_1 + n_2$. An induction then shows that for each $n \in [-N, N]$ we have

$$\#\{(n_1,\ldots,n_d)\in[-N,N]^d:n=n_1+\cdots+n_d\}\geq N^{d-1}.$$

Consequently,

$$|A'| > \delta N^d \gg_d \delta |[-N, N]^d|.$$

Applying Proposition 8.1 with $B_i := B$ for all i, we deduce that there are at least $c_0 N^{3d/2}$ tuples $(x, y) \in A' \times B^d$ such that $x + (y_1^2, \dots, y_d^2) \in A'$. For each such tuple the sum $x = x_1 + \dots + x_d$ is an element of the one-dimensional set A, as is $x + y_1^2 + \dots + y_d^2$. As each element of A has at most $(2N+1)^{d-1}$ representations of the form $x_1 + \dots + x_d$, it follows that the number of solutions to

$$x - x' = y_1^2 + \dots + y_d^2$$

is at least $c_0 N^{3d/2 - (d-1)} = c_0 N^{1+d/2}$, as required.

Part 2. Rado's criterion over squares and higher powers

In this part we prove Theorem 1.3. Let $\eta = \eta_k > 0$ be a fixed constant, where $\eta_2 = 1$, and η_k is sufficiently small when $k \geq 3$. In other words, we will work with smooth numbers when $k \geq 3$, but not when k = 2. This choice will improve our mean value estimate in the former situation, and our minor arc estimate in the latter.

9. The smooth homogeneous Bergelson-Leibman theorem

We begin our investigation of Rado's criterion in kth powers by generalising Theorem 2.4, which asserts that dense multidimensional sets contain configurations of the form

$$(x_1, \ldots, x_d), (x_1 + y_1^2, \ldots, x_d + y_d^2)$$

with the y_i lying in a homogeneous set. We require a version of this result which concerns affine configurations determined by kth powers, similar in flavour to the following special case of the multidimensional polynomial Szemerédi theorem of Bergelson–Leibman [BL96].

Bergelson–Leibman. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta > 0$ and let $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ be a finite set. There exists $N_0 = N_0(k, \delta, F)$ such that for any $N \ge N_0$, if $A \subset [N]^d$ has size $|A| \ge \delta N^d$ then there exist $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $y \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$x + y^k \cdot F \subset A$$
.

We require a version of this result in which the *k*th power comes from a homogeneous set. Fortunately, this strengthening can be deduced from the original. It is convenient to set up the following notation.

Notation. Given $q, y, k \in \mathbb{N}^d$ define

$$q \otimes y := (q_1 y_1, \dots, q_d y_d), \quad y^{\otimes k} := (y_1^{k_1}, \dots, y_d^{k_d}).$$

For $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$, write $q \otimes F$ for the set $\{q \otimes y : y \in F\}$.

Here is our version of the Bergelson–Leibman theorem with common difference arising from a homogeneous set.

Corollary 9.1 (Homogeneous Bergelson–Leibman). Let $k \in \mathbb{N}^d$, $M \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta > 0$ and let $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ be a finite set. There exists N_0 such that for any $N \geq N_0$, if $A \subset [N]^d$ has size $|A| \geq \delta N^d$ and $B_1, \ldots, B_d \subset \mathbb{N}$ are M-homogeneous, then there exist $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $y_1 \in B_1, \ldots, y_d \in B_d$ such that

$$x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset A. \tag{9.1}$$

Proof. Let $K := \prod_i k_i$ and consider the finite set

$$F' := [M^K]^d \otimes F.$$

By the Bergelson–Leibman theorem, provided that $N \gg_{M,K,F,\delta} 1$, there exist $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $t \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$x + t^K \cdot F' \subset A$$
.

The result follows if the progression $t^K \cdot [M^K]$ contains an element of the form $y_i^{k_i}$ for some $y_i \in B_i$.

Let $z_i := t^{K/k_i}$. Then

$$\{z_i^{k_i}, (2z_i)^{k_i}, \dots, (Mz_i)^{k_i}\} = t^K \cdot \{1^{k_i}, 2^{k_i}, \dots, M^{k_i}\} \subset t^K \cdot [M^K].$$

Since each B_i is M-homogeneous, it intersects the set $z_i \cdot [M]$.

Next we require a counting analogue of this result. In fact, we need to count the number of configurations arising from a smooth common difference. Before stating the theorem, we remind the reader of what it means for a set to be M-homogeneous in the N^{η} -smooths (see Definitions 1.6 and 2.2).

Theorem 9.2 (Varnavides averaging). Let $k_1, \ldots, k_d, M \in \mathbb{N}$, $\eta, \delta \in (0, 1]$, and let $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ be a finite set. There exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$, if $A \subset [N]^d$ has $|A| \geq \delta N^d$ and $B \subset \mathbb{N}$ is M-homogeneous in the N^η -smooths, then the number of tuples $(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times B^d$ for which (9.1) holds is at least

$$c_0 N^{d+1/k_1 + \cdots + 1/k_d}$$
.

Proof. Increasing the size of F if necessary, we may assume that F contains two elements which differ in the ith coordinate for each $i \in [d]$. Let N_0 be the quantity given by Corollary 9.1 with respect to the density $\delta/2^{d+1}$. Suppose that

$$N \ge N_0^{1/\eta},\tag{9.2}$$

and define the following sets of smooths:

$$S_i := S(|\sqrt[k_i]{N/N_0}|; N^{\eta}).$$

Interchanging the order of summation, we have

$$\sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \sum_{q_1 \in S_1} \cdots \sum_{q_d \in S_d} |A \cap (z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \ge \delta |S_1| \cdots |S_d| (NN_0)^d.$$

Notice that there are at most $(2N)^d$ choices for z for which there exists $q \in S_1 \times \cdots \times S_d$ such that

$$|A \cap (z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \neq 0.$$

Hence there are at least $\frac{1}{2}\delta N^d |S_1| \cdots |S_d|$ choices for $(z,q) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \prod_i S_i$ for which

$$|A \cap (z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)| \ge 2^{-d-1} \delta N_0^d.$$
 (9.3)

Call such a choice of (z, q) a good tuple.

Claim 1. For each good tuple (z, q) the set $A \cap (z+q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)$ contains a configuration of the form $x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F$ for some $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and some $y \in B^d$.

To see this, define

$$A_{z,q} := \{ x \in [N_0]^d : z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes x \in A \}.$$

Then $|A_{z,q}| \geq 2^{-d-1} \delta N_0^d$. Let

$$B_i = \{y_i \in [N_0] : q_i y_i \in B\} \cup (N_0, \infty).$$

Using the fact that B is N^{η} -smoothly M-homogeneous, together with (9.2), one can check that each B_i is M-homogeneous (not just smoothly homogeneous). Invoking Corollary 9.1, we see that there exist $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $y \in B_1 \times \cdots \times B_d$ such that

$$x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset A_{z,q}$$
.

Translating and dilating, we deduce that $A \cap (z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)$ contains a configuration of the form $x' + (q \otimes y)^{\otimes k} \otimes F$. By definition of the B_i and the fact that F is non-constant in each coordinate, we see that $y \in [N_0]^d$ and thus each coordinate of $q \otimes y$ lies in B. This establishes Claim 1.

For fixed $(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \mathbb{N}^d$ let G(x, y) denote the number of tuples $(z, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \mathbb{N}^d$ satisfying

$$x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d. \tag{9.4}$$

Define

$$\mathcal{A} := \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times B^d : x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset A \}. \tag{9.5}$$

Then interchanging the order of summation shows that the sum $\sum_{(x,y)\in\mathcal{A}} G(x,y)$ is at least

$$\begin{split} \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \sum_{q_1 \in S_1} \cdots \sum_{q_d \in S_d} |\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times B^d : x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset A \cap (z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d)\}| \\ & \geq \left| \left\{ (z, q) \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \prod_i S_i : (z, q) \text{ is good} \right\} \right| \geq \frac{1}{2} \delta N^d |S_1| \cdots |S_d|. \end{split}$$

Applying Lemma A.2 (for N sufficiently large) we deduce that

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\mathcal{A}} G(x,y) \gg_{k,\delta,\eta,N_0} N^{d+1/k_1+\dots+1/k_d}.$$

Since the theorem asserts a lower bound on the size of A, the result is proved provided we have the following upper bound on G(x, y).

Claim 2. Suppose that F contains two elements which differ in the ith coordinate for each $i \in [d]$. Then $G(x, y) \leq N_0^{2d}$.

To see this, first note that if $x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes F \subset z + q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d$ then, since F contains two elements differing in their ith coordinate, there exist integers $f_i < f_i'$ such that

$$x_i + y_i^{k_i} f_i, \ x_i + y_i^{k_i} f_i' \in z_i + q_i^{k_i} \cdot [N_0].$$

Subtracting these elements, we deduce that there exists $n_i \in [N_0]$ for which

$$q_i^{k_i} = \frac{y_i^{k_i}(f_i' - f_i)}{n_i}.$$

As there are at most N_0 choices for n_i , and y_i is fixed, there are at most N_0^d choices for q. Once one has fixed this choice of q, for any $f \in F$ we have

$$z \in x + y^{\otimes k} \otimes f - q^{\otimes k} \otimes [N_0]^d$$

so there are at most N_0^d choices for z. In summary $G(x, y) \leq N_0^{2d}$, which establishes Claim 2.

Remark 9.3 (Roth's theorem with logarithmically-smooth common difference). The above argument remains valid for much stronger levels of smoothness. For instance, one can use it to establish that if $A \subset [N]$ lacks a three-term progression with common difference equal to an R-smooth number then

$$|A| \ll \frac{r_3(R)}{R} N. \tag{9.6}$$

Here $r_3(N)$ denotes the size of a largest subset of [N] lacking a non-trivial three-term arithmetic progression.

10. A supersaturated generalisation of both Roth and Sárközy's theorems

In this section we deduce a one-dimensional counting result analogous to Theorem 2.4 by projecting down the multidimensional Theorem 9.2. Again we remind the reader of what it means to be M-homogeneous in $S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$ (see Definition 2.2).

Theorem 10.1 (Supersaturated smooth homogeneous Roth–Sárközy). Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s$, $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_t \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_s = 0$. For any $\eta, \delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. If A is at least δ -dense in [N] and B is M-homogeneous in $S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$, then there are at least $c_0 N^{s+t/k-1}$ tuples $(x, y) \in A^s \times B^t$ solving the equation

$$\lambda_1 x_1 + \dots + \lambda_s x_s = \mu_1 y_1^k + \dots + \mu_t y_t^k.$$
 (10.1)

Notice that Theorem 10.1 is a common generalisation of both the Furstenberg–Sárközy theorem (take s = 2 and t = 1) and Roth's theorem (take $\lambda = (1, -2, 1)$ and t = 0).

Proof of Theorem 10.1. Given $A \subset [N]$ of density at least δ , let us define

$$\tilde{A} := \left\{ x \in [N]^{s+t-2} : \sum_{i} x_i \in A \right\}$$

A stars and bars argument shows that for $n \in [N]$ we have

$$\#\{(n_1,\ldots,n_d)\in[N]^d: n=n_1+\cdots+n_d\}=\binom{n-1}{d-1}.$$

Since there are at most $\frac{1}{2}|A|$ elements x of A satisfying $x \leq \frac{1}{2}|A|$, it follows that for $N \geq C_{s,t}\delta^{-1}$ we have

$$|\tilde{A}| = \sum_{n \in A} {n-1 \choose s+t-3} \gg_{s,t} \delta^{s+t-2} N^{s+t-2}.$$
 (10.2)

In the statement of Theorem 10.1, at least one of the coefficients λ_i must be positive. Relabelling indices, we may assume that $\lambda_s > 0$. For a technical reason, it will be useful in a later part of the argument if we can ensure that

$$\tilde{A} - \tilde{A} \subset [-N/\lambda_s, N/\lambda_s]^{s+t-2}.$$
 (10.3)

This follows on partitioning the hypercube $[N]^{s+t-2}$ into subhypercubes of sufficiently small side length and applying the pigeonhole principle to ensure that \tilde{A} has large density on one such part (worsening the density (10.2) by a factor of $O_{s,t,\lambda_s}(1)$ in the process).

Define $F \subset \mathbb{Z}^{s+t-2}$ to be the set consisting of the zero vector together with the rows of the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\lambda_{s} & & & & \\ & -\lambda_{s} & & & & \\ & & \ddots & & & \\ & & -\lambda_{s} & & & \\ \lambda_{1} & \lambda_{2} & \dots & \lambda_{s-2} & \lambda_{s}^{k-1} \mu_{1} & \dots & \lambda_{s}^{k-1} \mu_{t} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{10.4}$$

Consider the set

$$\tilde{B} := \{ y \in \mathbb{N} : \lambda_s y \in B \} \cup (N^{1/k} \lambda_s^{-1}, \infty).$$

Provided that $N^{\eta} \geq \max\{\lambda_s, M\}$ (as we may assume), we see that \tilde{B} is M-homogeneous in the N^{η} -smooths. Applying Theorem 9.2, we find that there are at least $c_0 N^{s+t-2+s-2+t/k}$ tuples $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{Z}^{s+t-2} \times \tilde{B}^{s-2} \times \tilde{B}^t$ such that \tilde{A} contains the configuration

$$x + (y_1, \dots, y_{s-2}, z_1^k, \dots, z_t^k) \otimes F$$
.

By (10.3) and (10.4) we have $\lambda_s^k \mu_i z_i^k \in [-N, N]$, hence by definition of \tilde{B} we deduce that $\lambda_s z_i \in B$. Projecting down to one dimension and taking into account the multiplicities of representations, we obtain $\gg N^{s+t/k-1}$ tuples $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}^{s-2} \times \mathbb{N}^t$ with $\lambda_s z_i \in B$ and such that A contains the configuration

$$x, x - \lambda_s y_1, \dots, x - \lambda_s y_{s-2}, x + \sum_{i=1}^{s-2} \lambda_i y_i + \lambda_s^{k-1} \sum_{j=1}^t \mu_j z_j^k.$$

Let us set $x_i := x - \lambda_s y_i$ for i = 1, ..., s - 2, along with $x_{s-1} = x$ and

$$x_s := x + \sum_{i=1}^{s-2} \lambda_i y_i + \lambda_s^{k-1} \sum_{j=1}^t \mu_j z_j^k.$$

One can then check that the tuple $(x_1, \ldots, x_s, \lambda_s z_1, \ldots, \lambda_s z_t)$ is an element of $A^s \times B^t$ satisfying (10.1). By construction there are $\gg N^{s+t/k-1}$ such tuples.

11. Pseudorandom Roth-Sárközy

In this section we develop a pseudorandom variant of Theorem 10.1. As in Part 1, we begin by relaxing Theorem 10.1 to encompass general bounded functions. In order to count solutions to our equation weighted by general functions, we use the following notation.

Definition 11.1 (T_{ℓ} counting operator). Fix $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_t \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_s = 0$. Given functions $f_1, \ldots, f_s : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ and $B \subset \mathbb{Z}$, write (when defined)

$$T_{\ell}(f_1,\ldots,f_s;B) := \sum_{\substack{\lambda_1 x_1^{\ell} + \cdots + \lambda_s x_s^{\ell} = \\ \mu_1 y_1^{k} + \cdots + \mu_t y_t^{k}}} f_1(x_1) \cdots f_s(x_s) 1_B(y_1) \cdots 1_B(y_t).$$

We write $T_{\ell}(f; B)$ for $T_{\ell}(f, ..., f; B)$ and $T_{\ell}(A; B)$ for $T_{\ell}(1_A; B)$.

Remark 11.2 (Dependence on constants). In what follows we regard the coefficients λ_i and μ_j as fixed, and suppress their dependence in any implied constants. Similarly for the degree k and the number of variables s + t. We also fix $\eta = \eta_k$ globally: recall that this is 1 if k = 2, and a small positive constant if $k \geq 3$. We opt to keep any dependence on the following explicit: the level of homogeneity M, and the density δ .

Lemma 11.3 (Functional Roth–Sárközy). For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let $f : [N] \to [0, 1]$ with $||f||_1 \geq \delta N$, and let B be M-homogeneous in $S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$. Then

$$T_1(f; B) > c_0 N^{s+t/k-1}$$
.

Proof. Let $A = \{x \in [N] : f(x) \ge \delta/2\}$. As $||f||_1 \ge \delta N$, we must necessarily have $|A| \ge \delta N/2$. Since $f \ge \delta 1_A/2$, we deduce that

$$T_1(f; B) \ge (\delta/2)^s T_1(A; B),$$

and an application of Theorem 10.1 completes the proof.

Our next step is to weaken the assumptions of Theorem 10.1 even further, replacing bounded functions with unbounded functions which are sufficiently pseudorandom, in that they possess a majorant with good Fourier decay (Definition 5.3) and p-restriction (Definition 5.4).

Theorem 11.4 (Pseudorandom Roth–Sárközy). There exists $s_0(k)$ such that for $s+t \ge s_0(k)$, $\delta > 0$ and K, $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and c_0 , $\theta > 0$ such that for $N \ge N_0$ the following holds.

- Let $v:[N] \to [0,\infty)$ satisfy an $(s+t-10^{-8})$ -restriction estimate with constant K, and have Fourier decay of level θ ;
- let B be M-homogeneous in $S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$;
- let $f:[N] \to [0, \infty)$ with f < v and $||f||_1 > \delta ||v||_1$.

Then

$$T_1(f; B) > c_0 \|v\|_1^s N^{t/k-1}.$$
 (11.1)

Moreover, we may take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$, and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

Proof. By replacing B with $B \cap S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$, we may freely suppose that $B \subset S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})$. Deploying the dense model lemma [Pre17a, Theorem 5.1], we can find $g: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfying $0 \le g \le 1_{[N]}$ and

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll \log(\theta^{-1})^{-3/2}. \tag{11.2}$$

Provided that $\theta \le \exp(-C\delta^{-1})$ with C a large positive constant, we can compare Fourier coefficients at 0 to deduce that $\|g\|_1 \gg \delta N$. Lemma 11.3 then gives

$$T_1(g; B) \gg_{\delta, M} N^{s+t/k-1}. \tag{11.3}$$

Let h denote the indicator function of the set $\{x^k : x \in B\}$. Then for functions $h_1, \ldots, h_s : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ we have

$$T_1(h_1, \dots, h_s; B) = \sum_{\lambda \cdot x = \mu \cdot y} h_1(x_1) \cdots h_s(x_s) h(y_1) \cdots h(y_t).$$
 (11.4)

The function h is majorised by the indicator function of the set

$$\{x^k : x \in S(N^{1/k}; N^{\eta})\},\$$

which, by Lemma B.3, satisfies an $(s+t-10^{-8})$ -restriction estimate with constant $O_{\eta}(1)$. Observe that g is majorised by $1_{[N]}$, which also satisfies an $(s+t-10^{-8})$ -restriction estimate with constant O(1). The generalised von Neumann theorem (Lemma C.3), together with (11.2) and (11.4), yields

$$\left| \frac{T_1(f;B)}{\|\nu\|_1^s} - \frac{T_1(g;B)}{N^s} \right| \ll \frac{K|S(N^{1/k};N^{\eta})|^t}{N} \log(\theta^{-1})^{1.5 \times 10^{-8}}$$

$$\leq KN^{t/k-1} \log(\theta^{-1})^{1.5 \times 10^{-8}}.$$

Pairing this with (11.3), and choosing $\theta \leq \theta_0(\delta, M, K)$, completes the proof.

12. The W-trick for smooth powers and a non-linear Roth-Sárközy theorem

Our objective in this section is to use Theorem 11.4 to deduce the following non-linear density result. Recall that $\eta = \eta_k$ is 1 if k = 2, and a small positive constant if $k \ge 3$.

Theorem 12.1 (Non-linear Roth–Sárközy). There exists $s_0(k)$ such that the following holds. Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_s, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_t \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $s+t \geq s_0(k)$ and $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_s = 0$. For any $\delta > 0$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let A have density at least δ in $S(N; N^{\eta})$ and let B be M-homogeneous in $S(N; N^{\eta})$. Then

$$\#\Big\{(x, y) \in A^s \times B^t : \sum_{i=1}^s \lambda_i x_i^k = \sum_{i=1}^t \mu_j y_j^k\Big\} \ge c_0 N^{s+t-k}.$$

Moreover, we may take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$, and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

This deduction proceeds by developing a W-trick for smooth kth powers, analogous to that developed for prime powers in [Cho18]. Let

$$W = k^{k-1} \prod_{p < w} p^k, (12.1)$$

where $w = w(\eta, \delta, M)$ is a constant to be determined, and the product is over primes. We apply Lemma A.4 with $S = S(N; N^{\eta})$, using Lemma A.2 in the process. This allows us to conclude that there exists a w-smooth positive integer $\zeta \ll_{\eta,\delta,w} 1$ and $\xi \in [W]$ with $(\xi, W) = 1$ such that

$$\#\{x \in \mathbb{Z} : \zeta(\xi + Wx) \in A\} \ge \frac{1}{2} \delta \#\{x \in \mathbb{Z} : \zeta(\xi + Wx) \in S(N; N^{\eta})\}. \tag{12.2}$$

Define

$$P := \frac{N}{\zeta}, \quad X := \frac{P^k}{kW} \tag{12.3}$$

and set

$$A_1 := \left\{ \frac{(Wx + \xi)^k - \xi^k}{kW} : \zeta(Wx + \xi) \in A \text{ and } Wx + \xi \in S(P; P^{\eta}) \right\} \setminus \{0\}.$$
 (12.4)

Then $A_1 \subset [X]$. Combining (12.2) and Lemma A.5, we have the lower bound

$$|A_1| \ge \frac{1}{2} \delta \# \{ x \in S(P; P^{\eta}) : x \equiv \xi \mod W \} - O_{n,\delta,w} (N(\log N)^{-1}).$$
 (12.5)

Noting that $(kW)^{1/k}$ is a positive integer, let

$$B_1 := \{ y \in \mathbb{N} : \zeta(kW)^{1/k} y \in B \}. \tag{12.6}$$

Provided that $N \ge \max\{k, w, \zeta\}^{1/\eta}$, one may check that B_1 is M-homogeneous in $S(X^{1/k}; X^{\eta})$. Recalling that $\sum_{i=1}^{s} \lambda_i = 0$, we have

$$T_k(A; B) > T_1(A_1; B_1).$$
 (12.7)

Define $\nu: [X] \to [0, \infty)$ by

$$\nu(n) = \begin{cases} x^{k-1} & \text{if } n = \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW} \text{ for some } x \in S(P; P^{\eta}) \text{ with } x \equiv \xi \mod W, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
 (12.8)

First we check our L^1 normalisation. Let $\rho(\cdot)$ denote the Dickman–de Bruijn ρ -function (see [Gran08]).

Lemma 12.2. We have

$$\sum_{n} \nu(n) = \rho(1/\eta)X + O_{\eta,w}(P^k/\log P).$$
 (12.9)

Proof. Throughout the following argument, all implied constants in our asymptotic notation are permitted to depend on k, η , w. Bear in mind that $\eta \leq \eta_k$ is small.

From the definition

$$\sum_{n} \nu(n) = \sum_{\substack{x \in S(P; P^{\eta}) \\ x \equiv t \bmod W}} x^{k-1} + O(1).$$

We obtain from the start of the proof of [Vau89, Lemma 5.4] the fact that if $m \le P$ then

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in S(m; P^{\eta}) \\ x = \ell \text{ mod } W}} 1 = \frac{1}{W} \sum_{x \in S(m; P^{\eta})} 1 + O\left(\frac{P}{\log P}\right). \tag{12.10}$$

Now partial summation and Lemma A.2 yield

$$\sum_{n} \nu(n) = W^{-1} P^k \rho(1/\eta) - \int_{P^{1/2}}^{P} \frac{k-1}{W} t^{k-1} \rho\left(\frac{\log t}{\eta \log P}\right) dt + O\left(\frac{P^k}{\log P}\right)$$

so, by the mean value theorem and the boundedness of ρ' , it remains to show that

$$\int_{P^{1/2}}^{P} k t^{k-1} \rho \left(\frac{\log t}{\eta \log P} \right) dt = P^k \rho(1/\eta) + O\left(\frac{P^k}{\log P} \right).$$

Integration by parts gives

$$\int_{P^{1/2}}^{P} k t^{k-1} \rho \left(\frac{\log t}{\eta \log P} \right) dt = P^{k} \rho (1/\eta) - P^{k/2} \rho (1/(2\eta)) - \int_{P^{1/2}}^{P} \frac{t^{k-1}}{\eta \log P} \rho' \left(\frac{\log t}{\eta \log P} \right) dt,$$

and the estimate now follows from the boundedness of ρ , ρ' .

Lemma 12.3 (Density transfer). For N large in terms of k, η , w and δ we have

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} \nu(n) \gg_{\eta,k} \delta^k \sum_n \nu(n). \tag{12.11}$$

Proof. We employ (12.5) in conjunction with (12.10) to conclude that

$$\begin{split} \# \bigg\{ x \in S(P; P^{\eta}) : x &\equiv \xi \mod W, \ \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW} \in A_1, \ x > Z \bigg\} \\ &\geq |A_1| - ZW^{-1} - 1 \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2} \delta \# \{ x \in S(P; P^{\eta}) : x \equiv \xi \mod W \} - ZW^{-1} - O_{\eta, \delta, w}(N(\log N)^{-1}) \\ &\geq \frac{\delta}{2W} |S(P; P^{\eta})| - ZW^{-1} - O_{\eta, \delta, w}(N(\log N)^{-1}). \end{split}$$

Choosing $Z = \frac{1}{4}\delta |S(P; P^{\eta})|$ furnishes

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} \nu(n) \ge \frac{(\delta/4)^k}{W} |S(P; P^{\eta})|^k - O_{\eta, \delta, w}(N^k (\log N)^{-1}).$$

Using Lemma A.2 and recalling (12.3) we obtain

$$\sum_{n \in A_1} \nu(n) \ge W^{-1} (\delta P \rho(1/\eta)/4)^k - O_{\eta, \delta, w} (N^k (\log N)^{-1})$$

$$\ge (k(\rho(1/\eta)/4)^k) \cdot \delta^k X - O_{\eta, \delta, w} (N^k (\log N)^{-1}).$$

Taking N sufficiently large, an application of (12.9) completes the proof.

The following two ingredients are established in Appendices D and E.

Lemma 12.4 (Fourier decay). We have

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{\nu}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{1}_{[X]}}{X} \right\|_{\infty} \ll_{\eta} w^{-1/k}. \tag{12.12}$$

Lemma 12.5 (Restriction estimate). There exists $s_0(k)$ such if $s \ge s_0(k)$ then

$$\sup_{|\phi| \le \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{s-10^{-8}} d\alpha \ll_{\eta,k} \|\nu\|_1^{s-10^{-8}} X^{-1}.$$

Moreover, we may take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$ and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

Proof of Theorem 12.1. We employ Theorem 11.4 with majorant ν given by (12.8), homogeneous set $B_1 \subset S(X^{1/k}; X^{\eta})$ given by (12.6), and function $f = \nu 1_{A_1}$ (recall (12.4)). It is first necessary to check that these choices satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 11.4.

By Lemma 12.5, the function ν satisfies an $(s+t-10^{-8})$ -restriction estimate with constant $K=O_{\eta,k}(1)$. Let $c_{\eta,k}$ denote the implied constant in (12.11) and set $\tilde{\delta}:=c_{\eta,k}\delta^k$. Theorem 11.4 guarantees the existence of a positive constant

$$\theta = \theta(\eta, \tilde{\delta}, M, K) \tag{12.13}$$

such that provided ν has Fourier decay of level θ and $||f||_1 \ge \tilde{\delta} ||\nu||_1$ we may conclude that (11.1) holds. Taking

$$w = C_{\eta} \theta^k$$

guarantees sufficient Fourier decay, by Lemma 12.4. We note that this choice of w satisfies $w \ll_{\eta,\delta,M} 1$, as can be checked by unravelling the dependencies in (12.13). We obtain $\|f\|_1 \geq \tilde{\delta} \|v\|_1$ via Lemma 12.3. This requires us to take N sufficiently large in terms of k, η , w and δ . By our choice of w, this is ensured if N is sufficiently large in terms of η , δ and M (as we may assume).

Applying Theorem 11.4 and (12.9) yields

$$T_1(\nu 1_{A_1}; B_1) \gg_{\eta, \delta, M} \|\nu\|_1^s X^{t/k-1} \gg_{\eta, \delta, M} X^{s+t/k-1}$$
.

By (12.7) and the bound $\|v\|_{\infty} \ll_{n,\delta,M} N^{k-1}$, we finally have

$$T_k(A; B) \ge T_1(A_1; B_1) \ge \|\nu\|_{\infty}^{-s} T_1(\nu 1_{A_1}; B_1) \gg_{\eta, \delta, M} N^{s+t-k}.$$

13. Deducing partition regularity

In this final section of this part of the paper we prove a finitary version of Theorem 1.3.

Theorem 13.1 (Smooth finitary colouring result). Define $s_0(k)$ as in Theorem 1.3, and let $s \ge s_0(k)$. Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ and suppose that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some nonempty I. Then, for any $r \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the following holds: for any $N \ge N_0$, if we have a finite colouring of the N^{η} -smooth numbers in [N],

$$S(N; N^{\eta}) = C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$$

then there exists a colour $i \in [r]$ and distinct $x_1, \ldots, x_s \in C_i$ solving (1.2).

13.1. The inductive base: one colour

As in §4, given functions $f_1, \ldots, f_s : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ with finite support, define the counting operator

$$T(f_1,\ldots,f_s) := \sum_{c_1x_1^k+\cdots+c_sx_s^k=0} f_1(x_1)f_2(x_2)\cdots f_s(x_s)$$

and write T(f) for T(f, ..., f).

It follows from Theorem B.1 that there exist $\eta = \eta(k) > 0$, $N_1 = N_1(\eta, k, \mathbf{c}) \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_1 = c_1(\eta, k, \mathbf{c}) > 0$ such that for $N \ge N_1$ we have

$$T(1_{S(N;N^{\eta})}) \ge c_1 N^{s-k}.$$

By Lemma B.4, the number of trivial solutions in $S(N; N^{\eta})$ is $o(N^{s-k})$, so there must be at least one non-trivial solution $(x_1, \ldots, x_s) \in S(N; N^{\eta})^s$ to (1.2) for N sufficiently large in terms of η , k, s and c. The base case follows.

13.2. The inductive step

Let $S(N; N^{\eta}) = C_1 \cup \cdots \cup C_r$. Re-labelling indices, we may assume that C_r is the largest colour class, so that

$$|C_r| \ge |S(N; N^{\eta})|/r. \tag{13.1}$$

We split our proof into two cases depending on the properties of C_r .

13.2.1. The inhomogeneous case. Let $M := N_0(r-1)$ be the quantity whose existence is guaranteed by our inductive hypothesis. We may assume that $N \ge M^{1/\eta}$, so every element of [M] is N^{η} -smooth. First let us suppose that C_r is not M-homogeneous in $S(N; N^{\eta})$. Consequently, there exists $q \in S(N/M; N^{\eta})$ such that

$$C_r \cap q \cdot [M] = \emptyset. \tag{13.2}$$

For i = 1, ..., r - 1 let us define

$$C_i' := \{ x \in S(M; M^{\eta}) : qx \in C_i \}.$$

Then it follows from (13.2) that $C'_1 \cup \cdots \cup C'_{r-1} = S(M; M^{\eta})$. By the induction hypothesis, there exist distinct elements of some C'_i which solve (1.2). Since this equation is homogeneous, we obtain a non-trivial solution in C_i by multiplying the equation through by q^k .

13.2.2. The homogeneous case. We now assume that C_r is M-homogeneous in $S(N; N^{\eta})$. We apply Theorem 12.1, taking $A = B = C_r$. By (13.1) the density of A in $S(N; N^{\eta})$ is at least 1/r. Theorem 12.1 then implies that, provided $N \ge N_0(\eta, 1/r, M)$ we have

$$T(1_{C_r}) \ge c_0(\eta, 1/r, M)N^{s-k}$$
.

By Lemma B.4, the number of solutions in $S(N; N^{\eta})$ with two or more coordinates equal is $o(N^{s-k})$, hence taking N sufficiently large yields at least one non-trivial solution in C_r . We note that a quantity dependent on the tuple $(\eta, 1/r, M)$ is ultimately dependent only on η and r, by the definition of M. The induction step thereby follows, completing the proof of Theorem 13.1.

Part 3. Supersmooths and shifted squares

In this part we establish Rado's criterion for a linear equation in logarithmically-smooth numbers (Theorem 1.7). Furthermore, we show how a direct application of the transference principle yields a supersaturated version of this result, and analogously for a linear equation in the set of squares minus one (Theorem 1.4). Both of these results are established without recourse to properties of homogeneous sets. This reflects the fact that supersmooths and shifted squares possess subsets which can be projectively transformed to obtain equidistribution in congruence classes to small moduli, ruling out possible local obstructions to partition regularity—obstructions which must be surmounted when working with perfect squares and higher powers. This phenomenon manifests itself when massaging the perfect powers to obtain equidistribution; this can be done, but requires an affine transformation, as opposed to a projective one. Unfortunately, a typical equation satisfying Rado's criterion is only projectively invariant, so the methods of this part do not succeed in establishing partition regularity for equations in perfect powers.

14. Modelling a pseudorandom partition with a colouring

As described above, the proofs of Theorems 1.4 and 1.7 proceed by first passing to a subset of the sparse arithmetic set of interest (supersmooths or shifted squares). We then projectively transform this subset to obtain a set which is well distributed in arithmetic progressions to small moduli. We can then define a weight $\nu : [N] \to \infty$ supported on our equidistributed set which has nice pseudorandomness properties.

Given a finite colouring of our original arithmetic set, the above procedure induces a finite partition of our pseudorandom weight function into non-negative functions f_i , so that

$$\nu = \sum_{i} f_i.$$

Deducing supersaturation then amounts to showing that the count of solutions to our equation weighted by some f_i is within a constant factor of the maximum possible.

The main tool in deriving this lower bound is to model the f_i with functions g_i whose sum dominates the indicator function of the interval $1_{[N]}$. It is a short step to show that, in essence, we may assume that the g_i correspond to indicator functions of a colouring of [N]. For such colourings there is already a supersaturation result in the literature due to Frankl, Graham and Rödl [FGR88, Theorem 1]. Employing this theorem and then (quantitatively) retracing our steps yields Theorems 1.4 and 1.7.

In this section we establish the modelling part of the above procedure: non-negative functions f_i with pseudorandom sum $\sum_i f_i$ have approximants g_i whose sum dominates the constant function $1_{[N]}$. This 'transference principle' for colourings is based on Green's transference principle for dense sets [Gre05], as exposed in [Pre17a]. We recall the concepts of Fourier decay and p-restriction given in Definitions 5.3 and 5.4.

Proposition 14.1 (Modelling lemma). Suppose that $v:[N] \to [0,\infty)$ satisfies a prestriction estimate with constant K, and has Fourier decay of level 1/M with $M \ge M_0(p,K)$. Then for any $f_i:[N] \to [0,\infty)$ with $f_1 + \cdots + f_r = v$ there exists $g_i:[N] \to [0,\infty)$ such that $g_1 + \cdots + g_r = (1 + 1/\sqrt{M})1_{[N]}$ and

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll_{r,p,K} (\log M)^{-\frac{1}{p+2}} \quad (1 \le i \le r).$$

Let $\kappa, \varepsilon > 0$ be parameters, to be determined later. In proving this result we utilise the large spectrum of f_i , which we take as

$$S_i := \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{f}_i(\alpha)| \ge \kappa \|\nu\|_1 \}.$$
 (14.1)

Define the Bohr set with frequencies $S := S_1 \cup \cdots \cup S_{r-1}$ and width $\varepsilon \le 1/2$ by

$$B(S, \varepsilon) := \{ n \in [-\varepsilon N, \varepsilon N] : ||n\alpha|| \le \varepsilon \ (\forall \alpha \in S) \}.$$

⁵ This is also referred to as a 'dense model' or 'bounded approximation' lemma in the literature.

Next define

$$g_i := \frac{Nf_i * 1_B * 1_B}{\|\nu\|_1 |B|^2} \quad (1 \le i \le r - 1),$$

where, for finitely supported f_i , we set

$$f_1 * f_2(n) := \sum_{m_1 + m_2 = n} f_1(m_1) f_2(m_2).$$

We first estimate $\left|\frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|v\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{N}\right|$ with $i = 1, \dots, r-1$. The key identity is

$$\widehat{f_1 * f_2} = \widehat{f_1} \widehat{f_2}.$$

If $\alpha \in \mathbb{T} \setminus S$ then by the definition (14.1) of the large spectrum we have

$$\left|\frac{\hat{f}_i(\alpha)}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i(\alpha)}{N}\right| = \left|\frac{\hat{f}_i(\alpha)}{\|\nu\|_1}\right| \left|1 - \frac{\hat{1}_B(\alpha)^2}{|B|^2}\right| \le 2\kappa.$$

If $\alpha \in S$, then for each $n \in B$ we have $e(\alpha n) = 1 + O(\varepsilon)$. Hence

$$\hat{1}_B(\alpha) = |B| + O(\varepsilon |B|),$$

and consequently

$$\left|\frac{\hat{f}_i(\alpha)}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i(\alpha)}{N}\right| = \left|\frac{\hat{f}_i(\alpha)}{\|\nu\|_1}\right| \left|1 + \frac{\hat{1}_B(\alpha)}{|B|}\right| \left|1 - \frac{\hat{1}_B(\alpha)}{|B|}\right| \ll \varepsilon.$$

Combining both cases gives

$$\left\|\frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{N}\right\|_{\infty} \ll \varepsilon + \kappa.$$

From this it is apparent we should choose $\kappa = \varepsilon$, which we do.

We will show that, for any n, the sum $\sum_{i \le r-1} g_i(n)$ is almost bounded above by 1. By positivity and orthogonality, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} g_i(n) = N \|v\|_1^{-1} |B|^{-2} \sum_{x+y+z=n} \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} f_i(x) 1_B(y) 1_B(z)$$

$$\leq N \|v\|_1^{-1} |B|^{-2} \sum_{x+y+z=n} v(x) 1_B(y) 1_B(z)$$

$$= N \|v\|_1^{-1} |B|^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{v}(\alpha) \hat{1}_B(\alpha)^2 e(-\alpha n) d\alpha.$$

Inserting our Fourier decay assumption, and using Parseval, yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\hat{v}(\alpha)}{\|v\|_{1}} \hat{1}_{B}(\alpha)^{2} e(-\alpha n) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha &\leq \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\hat{1}_{[N]}(\alpha)}{N} \hat{1}_{B}(\alpha)^{2} e(-\alpha n) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha + M^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{1}_{B}(\alpha)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \\ &= N^{-1} \sum_{x+y+z=n} 1_{[N]}(x) 1_{B}(y) 1_{B}(z) + M^{-1} |B| \\ &\leq N^{-1} |B|^{2} + M^{-1} |B|. \end{split}$$

Following the proof of [Pre17a, Lemmas A.1 and A.2], the restriction estimate yields a constant C = C(p, K) > 1 such that $|B| \ge \exp(-C\varepsilon^{-p-2})N$. Taking $\varepsilon = (2C/\log M)^{1/(p+2)}$ with M large, we deduce that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} g_i(n) \le 1 + 1/\sqrt{M},\tag{14.2}$$

and that

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f_i}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g_i}}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll \varepsilon \ll_{p,K} (\log M)^{-\frac{1}{p+2}} \quad (1 \le i \le r-1).$$

Having found suitable bounded approximants g_i for i = 1, ..., r - 1, we define

$$g_r := (1 + 1/\sqrt{M})1_{[N]} - (g_1 + \dots + g_{r-1}).$$

This is non-negative, by (14.2). Finally, we calculate how well g_r approximates $f_r = \nu - (f_1 + \cdots + f_{r-1})$. The triangle inequality gives

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}_r}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_r}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{M}} + \left\| \frac{\hat{\nu}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{1}_{[N]}}{N} \right\|_{\infty} + \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll_{r,p,K} 1/(\log M)^{\frac{1}{p+2}}.$$

15. A pseudorandom Rado theorem

Frankl, Graham and Rödl [FGR88, Theorem 1] proved that if $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ are such that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty $I \subset [s]$, then for any r there exists $c_0 = c_0(r, \mathbf{c}) > 0$ such that in any r-colouring of [N] there are at least $c_0 N^{s-1}$ monochromatic solutions \mathbf{x} to the equation

$$c_1x_1 + \dots + c_sx_s = 0.$$

The purpose of this section is to generalise this result from colourings to partitions of pseudorandom functions.

Proposition 15.1 (Pseudorandom FGR). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty $I \subset [s]$. For any $r, K \in \mathbb{N}$ there exist $N_0, M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for $N \geq N_0$ the following holds. Let $v : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ satisfy an (s - 0.005)-restriction estimate with constant K, and have Fourier decay of level 1/M. Then for any partition $v = \sum_{i \leq r} f_i$ with f_i non-negative we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{s,v=0} f_i(x_1) \cdots f_i(x_s) \ge c_0 \|\nu\|_1^s N^{-1}.$$
 (15.1)

We begin the proof of this theorem by generalising [FGR88] from colourings to bounded weights.

Lemma 15.2 (Functional FGR). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty $I \subset [s]$. For any r there exists $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for $N \geq N_0$ and $g_1, \ldots, g_r : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ with $\sum_i g_i \geq 1_{[N]}$ we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{\mathbf{c}:\mathbf{x}=0} g_i(x_1) \cdots g_i(x_s) \ge c_0 N^{s-1}.$$

Proof. By the pigeonhole principle, for each $x \in [N]$ there exists $i \in [r]$ such that $g_i(x) \ge 1/r$. Let i be minimal with this property, and assign x the colour i. By the result of Frankl, Graham and Rödl, for some such choice of i there are at least $c_0' N^{s-1}$ tuples \mathbf{x} where each coordinate receives the colour i and such that $\mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{x} = 0$. It follows that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{c}\cdot\mathbf{x}=0} g_i(x_1)\cdots g_i(x_s) \ge r^{-s}c_0'N^{s-1}.$$

With this in hand, we proceed to prove Proposition 15.1. Since ν satisfies an (s-0.005)-restriction estimate with constant K, and has Fourier decay of level 1/M, we may apply the modelling lemma (Proposition 14.1, provided $M \ge M_0(s, K)$ as we may assume) to conclude the existence of $g_i : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ with $\sum_i g_i = (1 + 1/\sqrt{M})1_{[N]}$ and

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll_{r,s,K} (\log M)^{-\frac{1}{p+2}} \quad (1 \le i \le r),$$

where p = s - 0.005. This also implies that

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{(1 + M^{-1/2})N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll_{r,s,K} (\log M)^{-\frac{1}{p+2}} \quad (1 \le i \le r).$$

Applying Lemma 15.2 (provided that $N \ge N_0(r, \mathbf{c})$, as we may assume) furnishes a colour class i for which

$$\sum_{\mathbf{c}\cdot\mathbf{x}=0}g_i(x_1)\cdots g_i(x_s)\gg_{r,\mathbf{c}}N^{s-1}.$$

Our assumption that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ ensures that $s \ge |I| \ge 2$. We may in fact assume that $s \ge 3$, for if s = |I| = 2 then Proposition 15.1 is trivial. Hence $(1 + M^{-1/2})1_{[N]}$

satisfies an (s - 0.005)-restriction estimate with constant 1, and majorises each g_i . Employing the generalised von Neumann lemma (Lemma C.3), with i as in the previous paragraph, we deduce that

$$\frac{N}{\|\nu\|_1^s} \sum_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{x}=0} f_i(x_1) \cdots f_i(x_s) \ge c_0(r,\mathbf{c}) - O_{r,\mathbf{c},K}((\log M)^{-\frac{1}{400s}}).$$

Assuming that $M \ge M_0(r, \mathbf{c}, K)$ completes the proof of Proposition 15.1.

16. Supersaturation for shifted squares

In this section we relate a colouring of the shifted squares to a partition of a pseudorandom majorant ν satisfying the hypotheses of Proposition 15.1, and thereby prove Theorem 1.4. As in §6, we accomplish this through the W-trick for squares.

Define W by (6.1), where $w = w(\mathbf{c}, r)$ is a constant to be determined. Let

$$S' := \left\{ \frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + x : x \in \mathbb{N}, (Wx + 1)^2 \le N \right\},\$$

so that $S' \subset [N']$, where N' := N/(2W). If c is an r-colouring of the squares minus one, we induce an r-colouring of S' via

$$c'(\frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + x) := c((Wx + 1)^2 - 1).$$

Let S'_1, \ldots, S'_r denote the induced colour classes. From the definition of S' and the homogeneity of the equation, we see that the left-hand side of (1.4) is at least as large as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{x} = 0} 1_{S_i'}(x_1) \cdots 1_{S_i'}(x_s). \tag{16.1}$$

As in (6.5), define a weight function $\nu: [N'] \to [0, \infty)$ supported on S' by

$$v(n) = \begin{cases} Wx + 1 & \text{if } n = \frac{1}{2}Wx^2 + x \in S' \text{ for some } x \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
 (16.2)

We reassure the reader that neither the constant term 1 nor the factor W appearing above are necessary, but their presence is consistent with (6.5) and (12.8). A calculation similar to (6.6) gives

$$\|\nu\|_1 \gg \|\nu\|_{\infty} |S'| \gg_w \|\nu\|_{\infty} |S \cap [N]|,$$

where *S* is the set of shifted squares as defined in the theorem.

We recall that W ultimately depends only on $w = w(\mathbf{c}, r)$. Therefore, to show that (16.1) is of order $|S \cap [N]|^s N^{-1}$, and hence to prove Theorem 1.4, it suffices to establish that for $f_i = \nu 1_{S'_i}$ we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{x} = 0} f_i(x_1) \cdots f_i(x_s) \gg_{r, \mathbf{c}} \|\nu\|_1^s (N')^{-1}.$$
 (16.3)

Appendices D and E yield the following.

Lemma 16.1 (Fourier decay). We have

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{\nu}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{1}_{[N']}}{N'} \right\|_{\infty} \ll w^{-1/2}.$$

Lemma 16.2 (Restriction estimate). We have

$$\sup_{|\phi| < \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{4.995} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll \|\nu\|_1^{4.995} (N')^{-1}.$$

Let K denote the absolute constant occurring in Lemma 16.2, and let N_0 , M denote the parameters occurring in Proposition 15.1. By Lemma 16.1, provided that we take $w = w(r, \mathbf{c})$ sufficiently large, we may apply Proposition 15.1 with $f_i = v \mathbf{1}_{S_i'}$ to conclude that (16.3) holds. This completes the proof of Theorem 1.4.

17. Supersaturation for logarithmically-smooth numbers

The proof of Theorem 1.7 follows in analogy with the argument of the prior section. The situation is somewhat simpler in this context, as there is no need to massage the set of smooths to exhibit sufficient pseudorandomness—at least in the regime in which the level of smoothness $R = \log^C N$ has C = C(r) sufficiently large in terms of the number of colours. When R is a fixed power of $\log N$, one cannot expect Fourier decay, since there are more smooths in [1, N/2] than in [N/2, N], and there are more even smooths than odd.⁶ As remarked in the introduction to [Har16], one may be able to W-trick the smooths to exhibit Fourier decay even if R is a fixed (large) power of $\log N$; and this would then lead to a version of Theorem 1.7 with C independent of r.

Define the indicator function $\nu: [N] \to [0, \infty)$ of the *R*-smooth numbers in [N] by

$$\nu(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } p \mid x \Rightarrow p \le R, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The relevant pseudorandomness properties follow from work of Harper [Har16].

Lemma 17.1 ([Har16, Theorem 2]). There exists an absolute constant C > 0 such that for $R \ge \log^C N$ we have

$$\sup_{|\phi| < \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{2.995} d\alpha \ll \|\nu\|_1^{2.995} N^{-1}.$$

Lemma 17.2 ([Har16, §5]). We have the Fourier decay estimate

$$\left\| \frac{\hat{\nu}}{\|\nu\|_1} - \frac{\hat{1}_{[N]}}{N} \right\|_{\infty} \ll \frac{\log \log N}{\log R}.$$

⁶ We thank an anonymous referee for pointing this out.

Proof of Theorem 1.7. We are assuming that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some $I \neq \emptyset$, and this forces $s \geq 2$. If s = 2 then we are counting monochromatic solutions to $x_1 - x_2 = 0$, for which we have the lower bound $|S(N; R)| > |S(N; R)|^2 N^{-1}$.

Let us therefore assume that $s \ge 3$. Provided that $R \ge \log^C N$ we find that ν satisfies a p=2.995 restriction estimate with constant K=O(1). Applying Proposition 15.1 with these parameters, there exist $N_0, M, c_0 > 0$ such that (1.5) holds provided that ν has Fourier decay of level M^{-1} . This can be guaranteed on employing Lemma 17.2 and ensuring that

$$R > \log^C N$$
,

where $C = C(r, \mathbf{c})$ is sufficiently large.

Part 4. Appendices

Appendix A. Results on smooth numbers

Definition A.1 (R-smooth numbers). We say that a positive integer is R-smooth if all of its prime divisors are at most R. We denote the set of such numbers in the interval [N] by

$$S(N; R) := \{ n \in [N] : p \mid n \Rightarrow p \le R \}.$$

The following estimate was proved by de Bruijn; see [Gran08, Eq. (1.8)]. Here ρ : $[0,\infty) \to (0,1]$ denotes the Dickman–de Bruijn ρ -function. Note that ρ is decreasing and has bounded derivative.

Lemma A.2. We have

$$|S(N; N^{\eta})| = \rho(1/\eta)N + O_n(N/\log N).$$

In particular, there exists $N_0 = N_0(\eta)$ such that for $N \ge N_0$ we have

$$|S(N; N^{\eta})| \gg_n N.$$

Lemma A.3. There are at most $10^w N M^{-1/2}$ elements of [N] divisible by a w-smooth number greater than M.

Proof. It follows from Rankin's trick that the number of integers in [N] divisible by a w-smooth number exceeding M is at most

$$\sum_{\substack{m>M\\ \text{is w-smooth}}} \frac{N}{m} \le \sum_{\substack{m \text{ is w-smooth}}} \frac{N}{m} \left(\frac{m}{M}\right)^{1/2} = NM^{-1/2} \prod_{p \le w} \left(1 + \frac{1}{p^{1/2} - 1}\right).$$

The result follows on noting that $1 + \frac{1}{p^{1/2} - 1} \le 10$.

Notice that if W is a w-smooth positive integer divisible by the primorial $\prod_{p \le w} p$, then every positive integer can be written in the form $\zeta(\xi + Wy)$ for a unique choice of a w-smooth positive integer ζ and a unique $\xi \in [W]$ with $(\xi, W) = 1$.

Lemma A.4. Let W be a w-smooth positive integer divisible by the primorial $\prod_{p \le w} p$. For any sets $A \subset S \subset [N]$ with $|A| \ge \delta |S|$ and $|S| \ge \eta N$, there exist a w-smooth number $\zeta \ll_{\delta,n,w} 1$, and $\xi \in [W]$ with $(\xi,W) = 1$, such that

$$\#\{x\in\mathbb{Z}:\zeta(\xi+Wx)\in A\}\geq \tfrac{1}{2}\delta\#\{x\in\mathbb{Z}:\zeta(\xi+Wx)\in S\}.$$

Proof. For $\zeta, \xi \in \mathbb{N}$ and $T \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$, write

$$T_{\zeta,\xi,W} := \{x \in T : x = \zeta(\xi + Wy) \text{ for some } y \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

Let $M = 4(\delta \eta)^{-2} 10^{2w}$, so that $N10^w M^{-1/2} = \frac{\delta}{2} \eta N \le \frac{\delta}{2} |S|$. By the remarks preceding this lemma, together with Lemma A.3, we have

$$\begin{split} \delta|S| &\leq |A| \leq \sum_{\substack{\zeta \leq M \\ \zeta \text{ is } w\text{-smooth}}} \sum_{\substack{\xi \in [W] \\ (\xi,W) = 1}} |A_{\zeta,\xi,W}| + N10^w M^{-1/2} \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{\zeta \leq M \\ \zeta \text{ is } w\text{-smooth}}} \sum_{\substack{\xi \in [W] \\ (\xi,W) = 1}} |A_{\zeta,\xi,W}| + \frac{\delta}{2}|S|. \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$\delta \sum_{\substack{\zeta \leq M \\ \zeta \text{ is } w\text{-smooth} \\ (\xi,W)=1}} \sum_{\substack{\xi \in [W] \\ (\xi,W)=1}} |S_{\zeta,\xi,W}| \leq \delta |S| \leq 2 \sum_{\substack{\zeta \leq M \\ \zeta \text{ is } w\text{-smooth} \\ (\xi,W)=1}} \sum_{\substack{\xi \in [W] \\ (\xi,W)=1}} |A_{\zeta,\xi,W}|,$$

and the pigeonhole principle completes the proof.

Lemma A.5. For any $K \ge 1$ we have

$$S(N; KN^{\eta}) - S(N; N^{\eta}) \ll_{K,\eta} \frac{N}{\log N}$$

Proof. By Lemma A.2, we have

$$\frac{S(N;KN^{\eta}) - S(N;N^{\eta})}{N} = \rho \left(\frac{\log N}{\eta \log N + \log K}\right) - \rho(1/\eta) + O(1/\log N).$$

The estimate now follows from the mean value theorem, since ρ' is bounded and

$$\frac{\log N}{\eta \log N + \log K} - \frac{1}{\eta} \ll \frac{1}{\log N}.$$

Appendix B. The unrestricted count and mean values estimates

Recall that η is 1 if k=2 and a small positive constant if $k \ge 3$. The following is a consequence of the current state of knowledge in Waring's problem.

Theorem B.1. Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ with $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty subset I of [s]. Then, for $k \geq 2$, there exists $s_0(k) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $s \geq s_0(k)$ and $N \geq N_0$ then

$$\#\Big\{\mathbf{x}\in S(N;N^{\eta})^{s}: \sum_{i=1}^{s}c_{i}x_{i}^{k}=0\Big\} \asymp_{\mathbf{c},\eta,k} N^{s-k}.$$

Moreover, one can take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$, and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

The k = 2 case was known to Hardy and Littlewood. In an influential paper, Kloosterman [Klo27] opens with a discussion of this, then adapts the Hardy–Littlewood method to address the quaternary problem. Details of a proof may be found in [Dav2005, Ch. 8].

As we cannot find the precise statement that we require for $k \ge 3$ in the literature, we outline a proof below. The conclusion largely follows from the earlier techniques of Vaughan and of Wooley [Vau89, VW91, Woo92], but we find it convenient to also draw material from other sources. Indeed, the aforementioned articles on Waring's problem involve a combination of smooth and full-range variables, so for our lower bound the results cannot be imported directly. Theorem B.1 is an indefinite version of a special case of [DS16, Theorem 2.4]; the latter is more profound, as it tackles a more challenging smoothness regime. One approach would be simply to imitate the proof of that theorem, until needing to treat the local factors—this is approximately what we do below.

Proof. Let $k \ge 3$, and let $\eta = \eta_k$ be a small positive constant. By orthogonality, our count is

$$\int_0^1 g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}\alpha,$$

where

$$g(\alpha) = \sum_{x \in S(N:N^{\eta})} e(\alpha x^k), \quad g_i(\alpha) = g(c_i \alpha) \quad (1 \le i \le s).$$

Let $A \ge A_0(k)$, and put $Q = (\log N)^A$. Now perform a Hardy–Littlewood dissection [Vau97]: define major arcs

$$\mathfrak{M} = \bigcup_{\substack{0 \leq a < q \leq Q \\ (a,q) = 1}} \mathfrak{M}(q,a), \quad \mathfrak{M}(q,a) = \{\alpha \in [0,1] : |q\alpha - a| \leq QN^{-k}\},$$

and minor arcs $\mathfrak{m} = [0, 1] \setminus \mathfrak{M}$. It follows from [DS16, Lemma 8.6], by slightly adjusting the parameters therein to allow for constant multiples, that

$$\int_{\mathfrak{m}} |g_i(\alpha)|^s d\alpha = c_i^{-1} \int_{C_i \mathfrak{m}} |g(\beta)|^s d\beta \ll N^{s-k} Q^{-c}$$

for some c = c(k) > 0. Therefore

$$\int_0^1 g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) d\alpha = \int_{\mathfrak{M}} g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) d\alpha + o(N^{s-k}).$$

First we prune our major arcs down to a lower height. Set $Q_1 = \sqrt{\log N}$. Let

$$\mathfrak{N} = \bigcup_{\substack{0 \le a < q \le Q_1 \\ (a,a) = 1}} \mathfrak{N}(q,a), \quad \mathfrak{N}(q,a) = \{\alpha \in [0,1] : |q\alpha - a| \le Q_1 N^{-k}\},$$

and put $\mathfrak{n} = [0, 1] \setminus \mathfrak{N}$. Let $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}(q, a)$ with $0 \le a < q \le Q$ and (a, q) = 1 and, by Dirichlet's approximation theorem [Vau97, Lemma 2.1], choose relatively prime $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $b \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $r \le 2Q$ and $|rc_s\alpha - b| \le (2Q)^{-1}$. The triangle inequality gives

$$\left|\frac{a}{q} - \frac{b}{rc_s}\right| \le \frac{Q}{qN^k} + \frac{1}{2rc_sQ} < \frac{1}{qrc_s},$$

so $\frac{a}{q} = \frac{b}{rc_s}$. As (a, q) = 1 and $(rc_s, b) \ll 1$, we have $q \approx r$, $|rc_s\alpha - b| \approx |q\alpha - a|$, and it now follows from [VW91, Lemma 8.5] that

$$g_s(\alpha) \ll_{\varepsilon} q^{\varepsilon} N(q + N^k | q\alpha - a|)^{-1/k} + N \exp(-c\sqrt{\log N})(1 + N^k | \alpha - a/q|),$$

where $c = c(A, \eta)$ is a small positive constant. In particular, if $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M} \setminus \mathfrak{N}$ then

$$g_s(\alpha) \ll N Q_1^{\varepsilon - 1/k}$$
.

Furthermore, the sharp mean value estimate [DS16, Theorem 2.3] implies

$$\int_0^1 |g_i(\alpha)|^{s-0.1} d\alpha \ll N^{s-0.1-k} \quad (1 \le i \le s).$$
 (B.1)

Using Hölder's inequality, we now obtain

$$\int_{\mathfrak{M}\setminus\mathfrak{N}} |g_1(\alpha)\cdots g_s(\alpha)| \,\mathrm{d}\alpha = o(N^{s-k}),$$

and so

$$\int_0^1 g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) \, d\alpha = \int_{\mathfrak{N}} g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) \, d\alpha + o(N^{s-k}). \tag{B.2}$$

For $q \in \mathbb{N}$, $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, define

$$S(q, a) = \sum_{x \le q} e_q(ax^k), \quad w(\beta) = \sum_{N^{\eta k} < m \le N^k} \frac{1}{k} m^{1/k - 1} \rho\left(\frac{\log m}{\eta k \log N}\right) e(\beta m)$$

and

$$W(\alpha, q, a) = q^{-1}S(q, a)w(\alpha - a/q),$$

where as before ρ denotes the Dickman–de Bruijn ρ -function. Next, we apply [Vau89, Lemma 5.4] to $c_i \alpha$ for $1 \le i \le s$ and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{N}(q, a) \subset \mathfrak{N}$, where $0 \le a < q \le Q_1$ and $|q\alpha - a| \le Q_1 N^{-k}$. With $c_i' = c_i/(c_i, q)$ and $q_i = q/(c_i, q)$, this gives

$$g_i(\alpha) = W(c_i \alpha, q_i, c'_i a) + O((\log N)^{-1/2}),$$

and furthermore

$$W(c_i \alpha, q, c_i a) = W(c_i \alpha, q_i, c_i' a) \ll q^{-1/k} \min(N, |\alpha - a/q|^{-1/k}).$$
 (B.3)

By (B.1) and (B.2), together with Hölder, we now have

$$\int_0^1 g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) d\alpha$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{q \le \sqrt{\log N} \\ (a,a)=1}} q^{-s} \sum_{\substack{a \le q \\ (a,a)=1}} \int_{|\beta| \le \frac{\sqrt{\log N}}{qN^k}} \left(\prod_{i \le s} S(q, c_i a) w(c_i \beta) \right) d\beta + o(N^{s-k}).$$

The bound (B.3) enables us to extend the integral to $[-1/2, 1/2]^s$ and then the outer sum to infinity with $o(N^{s-k})$ error, as is usual for a major arc analysis [Dav2005, Vau97]. We thus obtain

$$\int_0^1 g_1(\alpha) \cdots g_s(\alpha) \, d\alpha = \mathfrak{S}J + o(N^{s-k}),$$

where

$$\mathfrak{S} = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{a \leq q \\ (a,a)=1}} q^{-s} S(q, c_1 a) \cdots S(q, c_s a), \quad J = \int_{[-1/2, 1/2]^s} w(c_1 \beta) \cdots w(c_s \beta) \, \mathrm{d}\beta.$$

As discussed in [Dav2005, Ch. 8], the singular series is a product of p-adic densities,

$$\mathfrak{S} = \prod_{p} \chi_{p},$$

and is strictly positive if and only if $\chi_p > 0$ for all p. The positivity of the p-adic densities χ_p follows from the assumption that $\sum_{i \in I} c_i = 0$ for some non-empty $I \subseteq [s]$: one takes a non-trivial solution in $\{0, 1\}^s$, and this is a non-singular p-adic zero.

Our final task is to show that $J \approx N^{s-k}$. By orthogonality

$$J = k^{-s} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in (N^{\eta k}, N^k]^s} \prod_{i \le s} m_i^{1/k-1} \rho \left(\frac{\log m_i}{\eta k \log N} \right).$$

With c > 0 small, we have the crude lower bound

$$J \gg N^{s(1-k)} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in (cN^k, N^k]^s \atop \mathbf{m} = 0} 1 \gg N^{s(1-k)} (N^k)^{s-1} = N^{s-k},$$

since the c_i are not all of the same sign. We also have the complementary upper bound

$$J \ll N^{s(1-k)} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{m} \in [1, N^k]^s \\ \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{m} = 0}} 1 \ll N^{s-k}.$$

Remark B.2. By working harder, we could have obtained a main term λN^{s-k} , for some positive constant $\lambda = \lambda(\mathbf{c})$, similarly to Drappeau–Shao [DS16].

We also need the following bounded restriction inequalities.

Lemma B.3. Let

$$f:[N] \to \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le 1\}.$$

If p > 4 then

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N \cdot N^{\eta})} f(x) e(\alpha x^2) \right|^p d\alpha \ll_p N^{p-2}.$$

For $k \geq 3$, there exists $s_0(k)$ such that if $s \geq s_0(k)$ then

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N;N^{\eta})} f(x) e(\alpha x^k) \right|^{s-10^{-8}} d\alpha \ll N^{s-10^{-8}-k}.$$

Moreover, one may take $s_0(3) = 8$, and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

Proof. The quadratic statement is a direct consequence of [Bou89, Eq. (4.1)]. Assuming for the time being that $k \ge 4$, write 2t for the smallest even integer greater than or equal to the integer $s_0(k)$ appearing in Theorem B.1. Note that modifying $s_0(k)$ by adding a constant does not affect the veracity of (1.3), and so we will prove the statement for $s \ge 2t$ in this case.

By orthogonality, the triangle inequality and Theorem B.1, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} f(x) e(\alpha x^{k}) \right|^{2t} d\alpha$$

$$\leq \# \left\{ (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in S(N; N^{\eta})^{t} \times S(N; N^{\eta})^{t} : \sum_{i \leq t} x_{i}^{k} = \sum_{i \leq t} y_{i}^{k} \right\} \ll_{t, \eta} N^{2t - k}.$$

The trivial estimate $|\sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} f(x)e(\alpha x^k)| \le N$ completes the proof when $k \ge 4$.

For k=3 we require a more elaborate argument to prove that the precise value of $s_0(3)=8$ is admissible. In particular, our approach relies on a 'subconvex' mean value estimate of Wooley [Woo95]. Define $\phi: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ by $\phi(n)=f(x)$ if $n=x^3$ for some $x \in S(N; N^n)$, and zero otherwise. Our objective is to show that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{8-10^{-8}} d\alpha \ll N^{5-10^{-8}}.$$

In the present appendix, we let δ denote a parameter in the range

$$0 < \delta < 1$$
.

and consider the large spectra

$$\mathcal{R}_{\delta} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)| > \delta N \}.$$

By the dyadic pigeonholing argument in [BP17, §6], it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \ll \frac{1}{\delta^{8-10^{-7}}N^3}.$$

By orthogonality, Wooley's estimate [Woo95, Theorem 1.2] implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^6 \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll N^{3.25 - 10^{-4}}.$$

Thus, we may assume without loss of generality that

$$N^{10^{-5} - 1/8} < \delta < 1. (B.4)$$

Indeed, if $\delta < N^{10^{-5}-1/8}$ then

$$\operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \leq (\delta N)^{-6} \int_{\mathcal{R}_{\delta}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^6 \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll (\delta N)^{-6} N^{3.25 - 10^{-4}} \leq \frac{1}{\delta^{8 - 10^{-7}} N^3}.$$

Let $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_R$ be N^{-3} -separated points in \mathcal{R}_{δ} . As $8 - 10^{-7} \ge 6.3$ it suffices to show that

$$R \ll \delta^{-6.3}. (B.5)$$

Let $\mu(n) = 1$ if $n = x^3$ for some $x \in [N]$, and zero otherwise. For some $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|a_n| \le 1$, we then have $\phi(n) = a_n \mu(n)$; this 'throws away' smoothness. With $\gamma = 3.1$, the calculation in [BP17, §6] yields

$$\delta^{2\gamma} N^{\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{r,r' \leq R} |\hat{\mu}(\theta_r - \theta_{r'})|^{\gamma}. \tag{B.6}$$

Consider the value of $\theta = \theta_r - \theta_{r'}$ in the right-hand side of (B.6). Define a set of 'minor arcs'

$$\mathfrak{n} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\mu}(\alpha)| \le N^{10^{-8} + 3/4} \}.$$

In light of (B.4), the contribution from $\theta \in \mathfrak{n}$ to the right-hand side of (B.6) is $o(\delta^{2\gamma}N^{\gamma}R^2)$, and so

$$\delta^{2\gamma} N^{\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{\substack{r,r' \leq R:\\ \theta \notin \mathfrak{n}}} |\hat{\mu}(\theta_r - \theta_{r'})|^{\gamma}. \tag{B.7}$$

Next, suppose $\theta \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \mathfrak{n}$, and fix a small $\varepsilon > 0$. By [Cho16, Lemma 2.3], there exist relatively prime $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$q \le N^{3/4}, \quad |q\theta - a| \le N^{-9/4}$$

and

$$\hat{\mu}(\theta) \ll q^{\varepsilon - 1/3} N (1 + N^3 |\theta - a/q|)^{-1/3}.$$

With C a large positive constant, put $Q = C + \delta^{-9}$. The contribution to the right-hand side of (B.7) from denominators q > Q is $O(R^2 N^{\gamma} Q^{\gamma(\varepsilon - 1/3)})$, which is negligible compared to the left-hand side.

Hence

$$\delta^{2\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{1 \le r, r' \le R} G(\theta_r - \theta_{r'}), \tag{B.8}$$

where

$$G(\theta) = \sum_{q \le Q} \sum_{q=0}^{q-1} \frac{q^{\gamma(\varepsilon - 1/3)}}{(1 + N^3 |\sin(\theta - a/q)|)^{\gamma/3}}.$$

The inequality (B.8) is a cubic version of [Bou89, Eq. (4.16)]. As $\gamma(\varepsilon - 1/3) > 1$, Bourgain's argument carries through, and yields (B.5).

Finally, we need an upper bound on the number of trivial solutions.

Lemma B.4. Let $k \ge 2$, and let c_1, \ldots, c_s be non-zero integers summing to zero. Then there exists $s_0(k)$ such that if $s \ge s_0(k)$ then

$$\#\Big\{\mathbf{x} \in S(N; N^{\eta})^{s} : \sum_{i=1}^{s} c_{i} x_{i}^{k} = 0 \text{ and } x_{i} = x_{j} \text{ for some } i \neq j\Big\} = o(N^{s-k}).$$

Moreover, one can take $s_0(2) = 5$, $s_0(3) = 8$, and $s_0(k)$ satisfying (1.3).

Proof. Let $s_0(k)$ be as in Lemma B.3. By the union bound, it suffices to prove an estimate of the required shape for the number of solutions with $x_{s-1} = x_s$. In this case we are estimating

$$\#\Big\{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})^{s-1} : \sum_{i=1}^{s-2} c_i x_i^k + (c_{s-1} + c_s) x_{s-1}^k = 0\Big\}.$$

It may be that $c_{s-1} + c_s = 0$, so we estimate the contribution from the x_{s-1} variable trivially. Using orthogonality and Hölder's inequality, it therefore suffices to prove that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} e(\alpha x^k) \right|^{s-2} d\alpha = o(N^{s-1-k}).$$
 (B.9)

Let $p = s_0(k) - 10^{-8}$. When $s - 2 \ge p$, the estimate (B.9) follows from Lemma B.3 and the trivial estimate $|\sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} e(\alpha x^k)| \le N$. When s - 2 < p, we apply Hölder's inequality and Lemma B.3 to obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} e(\alpha x^{k}) \right|^{s-2} d\alpha \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| \sum_{x \in S(N; N^{\eta})} e(\alpha x^{k}) \right|^{p} d\alpha \right)^{(s-2)/p}$$

$$\ll N^{s-2-k(s-2)/p}$$

It remains to check that s-2-k(s-2)/p < s-1-k, or equivalently 2+p(1-1/k) < s. Since s > p, this follows if $p/k \ge 2$, which we can certainly ensure without affecting the bound (1.3).

Appendix C. A generalised von Neumann lemma

Recall the notion of p-restriction introduced in Definition 5.4.

Lemma C.1. Let $v_1, v_2 : [N] \to [0, \infty)$. If both v_1 and v_2 satisfy a p-restriction estimate with constant K, then so does $v_1 + v_2$.

Proof. Let $|\phi| \le \nu_1 + \nu_2$. Then $\phi = \psi \times \theta$, where $\psi : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies $\psi \le \nu_1 + \nu_2$ and $\theta : [N] \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $|\theta| \le 1$. Put $\psi_1 := \min\{\psi, \nu_1\}$ and $\psi_2 := \psi - \psi_1$. On setting $\phi_i := \psi_i \theta$, we have $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$ with $|\phi_i| \le \nu_i$. Applying the triangle inequality and restriction estimates for each ν_i gives

$$\|\hat{\phi}\|_p \le \|\hat{\phi}_1\|_p + \|\hat{\phi}_2\|_p \le (K/N)^{1/p} (\|\nu_1\|_1 + \|\nu_2\|_1).$$

Positivity gives $\|v_1\|_1 + \|v_2\|_1 = \|v_1 + v_2\|_1$, and the result then follows on taking pth powers.

Lemma C.2. Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, $\delta \in (0, 1)$ and suppose $v_1, \ldots, v_s : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ each satisfy an $(s - \delta)$ -restriction estimate with constant K. Then for any $|f_i| \leq v_i$ we have

$$\left| \sum_{\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{x} = 0} \frac{f_1(x_1)}{\|\nu_1\|_1} \cdots \frac{f_s(x_s)}{\|\nu_s\|_1} \right| \le \frac{K}{N} \min_i \left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu_i\|_1} \right\|_{\infty}^{\delta}.$$
 (C.1)

Proof. We prove the upper bound with i=1, the remaining cases following by relabelling indices. Let $p=s-\delta$. By orthogonality and Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\left| \sum_{\mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{x} = 0} f_1(x_1) \cdots f_s(x_s) \right| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{f}_1(c_1 \alpha) \cdots \hat{f}_s(c_s \alpha) \, d\alpha \right| \le \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{f}_1(c_1 \alpha) \cdots \hat{f}_s(c_s \alpha)| \, d\alpha$$

$$\le \|\hat{f}_1\|_{\infty}^{\delta} \|\hat{f}_1\|_{p}^{1-\delta} \|\hat{f}_2\|_{p} \cdots \|\hat{f}_s\|_{p}.$$

Inequality (C.1) then follows from our *p*-restriction assumption.

Lemma C.3 (Generalised von Neumann). Let $c_1, \ldots, c_s \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, $\delta \in (0, 1)$ and suppose $v_i, \mu_i : [N] \to [0, \infty)$ each satisfy an $(s - \delta)$ -restriction estimate with constant K. Then for any $|f_i| \le v_i$ and $|g_i| \le \mu_i$ we have

$$\left| \sum_{\mathbf{c},\mathbf{x}=0} \left(\frac{f_1(x_1)}{\|\nu_1\|_1} \cdots \frac{f_s(x_s)}{\|\nu_s\|_1} - \frac{g_1(x_1)}{\|\mu_1\|_1} \cdots \frac{g_s(x_s)}{\|\mu_s\|_1} \right) \right| \leq \frac{sK}{N} \max_i \left\| \frac{\hat{f}_i}{\|\nu_i\|_1} - \frac{\hat{g}_i}{\|\mu_i\|_1} \right\|_{\infty}^{\delta}.$$

Proof. Let $p = s - \delta$. By Lemma C.1, the weight

$$\frac{v_i}{\|v_i\|_1} + \frac{\mu_i}{\|\mu_i\|_1}$$

satisfies a p-restriction estimate with constant K and majorises the difference

$$\frac{f_i}{\|\nu_i\|_1} - \frac{g_i}{\|\mu_i\|_1}.$$

Observing that this weight has L^1 norm at most 2, the lemma follows on applying the telescoping identity

$$a_1 \cdots a_s - b_1 \cdots b_s = \sum_{i=1}^s (a_i - b_i) \prod_{j < i} a_j \prod_{j > i} b_j,$$

together with Lemma C.2.

Appendix D. Pointwise exponential sum estimates

The primary objective of this section is to establish the Fourier decay estimates in Lemmas 6.3, 12.4 and 16.1. Of these, Lemma 12.4 concerns an exponential sum over smooth numbers. As before, put $R = P^{\eta}$, with $\eta = 1$ when k = 2 and $\eta = \eta_k$ a small positive number when $k \geq 3$, and define P and X by (12.3). Our weight function ν is defined

by (12.8), with k = 2 when dealing with Lemmas 6.3 and 16.1 as well as $\xi = 1$ in the latter scenario. This is consistent with (6.5) and (16.2). We assume throughout that X is sufficiently large in terms of w.

Our goal is to prove the inequality (12.12), using the Hardy–Littlewood circle method. More explicitly, we wish to show that if $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}$ then

$$\frac{\hat{\nu}(\alpha)}{\|\nu\|_1} = \frac{\hat{1}_{[X]}(\alpha)}{X} + O_{\eta}(w^{-1/k}).$$
 (D.1)

We treat the $k \ge 3$ and k = 2 cases separately, as smooth numbers are used for the former.

D.1. Smooth Weyl sums

We first consider the case $k \ge 3$, recalling that here we choose $\eta = \eta_k$ sufficiently small. The idea is to consider a rational approximation a/q to α ; there will ultimately be four regimes to consider, according to the size of q. We begin with a variant of [Vau89, Lemma 5.4], which is useful for low height major arcs. Let

$$S_{q,a} = \sum_{r \bmod q} e\left(\frac{a}{q} \cdot \frac{(Wr + \xi)^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right), \quad I(\beta) = \int_0^X e(\beta z) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

Lemma D.1 (First level). Suppose $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, with $q \leq R/W$ and $||q\alpha|| = ||q\alpha - a||$. Then

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) = \rho(1/\eta)q^{-1}S_{q,a}I\left(\alpha - \frac{a}{q}\right) + O_{\eta}\left(\frac{P^k}{\log P}(q + P^k||q\alpha||)\right).$$

Proof. The start of the proof of [Vau89, Lemma 5.4] yields

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in S(m;R) \\ x \equiv Wr + \xi \bmod Wq}} 1 = \frac{1}{Wq} \sum_{x \in S(m;R)} 1 + O\left(\frac{P}{\log P}\right),$$

valid for $r \in [q]$ and $m \le P$. Therefore

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in S(m;R) \\ x \equiv \xi \bmod W}} e\left(\frac{a}{q} \cdot \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right) = \frac{S_{q,a}}{Wq} \sum_{x \in S(m;R)} 1 + O\left(\frac{qP}{\log P}\right).$$

In particular, if $\alpha(x)$ equals $e\left(\frac{a}{q} \cdot \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right)$ when $x \equiv \xi \mod W$ is R-smooth and 0 otherwise, then

$$\sum_{x \le m} \left(\alpha(x) - \frac{S_{q,a}}{Wq} \rho\left(\frac{\log m}{\log R}\right) \right) \ll \frac{q \, P}{\log P}.$$

By partial summation and the boundedness of ρ' , we also have

$$\sum_{x \le m} \rho\left(\frac{\log x}{\log R}\right) = m\rho\left(\frac{\log m}{\log R}\right) + O\left(\frac{P}{\log P}\right) \quad (1 \le m \le P),$$

and so

$$\sum_{x \le m} \left(\alpha(x) - \frac{S_{q,a}}{Wq} \rho\left(\frac{\log x}{\log R}\right) \right) \ll \frac{qP}{\log P}.$$

Next, observe that with $\beta = \alpha - a/q$ we have $|\beta| = q^{-1} ||q\alpha||$ and

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) = \sum_{\substack{x \in S(P;R) \\ x = t \text{ mod } W}} e\left(\frac{a}{q} \cdot \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right) \phi(x) = \frac{S_{q,a}}{Wq} \sum_{x \le P} \rho\left(\frac{\log x}{\log R}\right) \phi(x) + E, \quad (D.2)$$

where

$$\phi(x) = x^{k-1}e\left(\beta \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right)$$

and

$$E = \sum_{x < P} \left(\alpha(x) - \frac{S_{q,a}}{Wq} \rho\left(\frac{\log x}{\log R}\right) \right) \phi(x).$$

Partial summation gives

$$E \ll \frac{qP}{\log P}(\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}([1,P])} + P\|\phi'\|_{L^{\infty}([1,P])}) \ll \frac{qP^k}{\log P}(1 + P^k|\beta|),$$

and with the boundedness of ρ' it also implies that

$$\sum_{x < P} \rho \left(\frac{\log x}{\log R} \right) \phi(x) = \rho(1/\eta) \sum_{x < P} \phi(x) + O\left(\frac{P^k}{\log P} \right).$$

Meanwhile, Euler–Maclaurin summation [Vau97, Eq. (4.8)] yields

$$\sum_{x \le P} \phi(x) = \int_{1}^{P} \phi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + O(P^{k-1}(1+P^{k}|\beta|)) = WI(\beta) + O(P^{k-1}(1+P^{k}|\beta|)).$$

Substituting these estimates into (D.2) concludes the proof.

We supplement this by bounding $S_{q,a}$ and $I(\beta)$.

Lemma D.2. If (q, a) = 1 then $S_{1,0} = 1$,

$$S_{q,a} = 0 \quad (2 \le q \le w),$$
 (D.3)

$$S_{q,a} \ll q^{1-1/k}$$
. (D.4)

Proof. Plainly $S_{1,0} = 1$, so let $q \ge 2$, and let $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ with (q, a) = 1. The binomial expansion gives

$$S_{q,a} = \sum_{r \bmod q} e_q \left(a \sum_{\ell=1}^k \frac{\binom{k}{\ell} W^{\ell-1}}{k} \xi^{k-\ell} r^{\ell} \right),$$

and we note that $\frac{\binom{k}{\ell}W^{\ell-1}}{k} \in \mathbb{Z}$ $(1 \le \ell \le k)$. Write q = uv, where u is w-smooth and (v, W) = 1. Since (u, v) = 1, a standard calculation reveals that

$$S_{q,a} = S_{u,a_1} S_{v,a_2},$$
 (D.5)

where $a_1 = av^{-1} \in (\mathbb{Z}/u\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ and $a_2 = au^{-1} \in (\mathbb{Z}/v\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ (see [Vau97, Lemma 2.10]). Put u = hu', where h = (u, W/k). Representing $r \mod q$ as $r = r_1 + u'r_2$, where $0 \le r_1 < u'$ and $0 \le r_2 < h$, gives

$$S(u, a_{1}) = \sum_{\substack{0 \leq r_{1} < u' \\ 0 \leq r_{2} < h}} e_{hu'} \left(a_{1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{\binom{k}{\ell} W^{\ell-1}}{k} \xi^{k-\ell} (r_{1} + u'r_{2})^{\ell} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{r_{1}=0}^{u'-1} e_{hu'} \left(a_{1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{\binom{k}{\ell} W^{\ell-1}}{k} \xi^{k-\ell} r_{1}^{\ell} \right) \sum_{r_{2}=0}^{h-1} e_{h} \left(a_{1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{\binom{k}{\ell} W^{\ell-1}}{k} \xi^{k-\ell} (u')^{\ell-1} r_{2}^{\ell} \right).$$

As h divides W/k, the inner sum is

$$\sum_{r_2 \bmod h} e_h(a_1 \xi^{k-1} r_2),$$

which vanishes unless $h \mid a_1 \xi^{k-1}$. As $(h, a_1) = (h, \xi) = 1$, and as

$$(u, W/k) = 1 \iff (u, W) = 1 \iff u = 1,$$

we conclude that

$$S_{u,a_1} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } u \neq 1, \\ 1 & \text{if } u = 1. \end{cases}$$
 (D.6)

Moreover, note that if $2 \le q \le w$ then u = q and v = 1. Now (D.5) and (D.6) complete the proof of (D.3).

Next we prove (D.4). By (D.5) and (D.6), we may assume u = 1. Consider

$$e_{kWv}(a_2\xi^k)S_{v,a_2} = \sum_{r \bmod v} e_v \left(a_2 \frac{(Wr + \xi)^k}{kW}\right).$$

As (v, W) = 1, we can change variables by $t = \xi W^{-1} + r \in \mathbb{Z}/v\mathbb{Z}$, which gives

$$e_{kWv}(a_2\xi^k)S_{v,a_2} = \sum_{t \bmod v} e_v \left(a_2 \frac{W^{k-1}}{k} t^k\right).$$

Since $(v, a_2 \frac{W^{k-1}}{k}) = 1$, we may apply [Vau97, Theorem 4.2], which gives

$$S_{v,a_2} \ll v^{1-1/k} = q^{1-1/k}.$$

By (D.5) and (D.6), we now have $S_{a,a} \ll q^{1-1/k}$.

A standard calculation provides the following bound.

Lemma D.3. We have

$$I(\beta) \ll \min\{X, \|\beta\|^{-1}\}.$$

Before continuing in earnest, we briefly describe the plan. We can modify [Vau89, Theorem 1.8] to handle a set of minor arcs. At that stage, our major and minor arcs fail to cover the entire torus \mathbb{T} , but we can bridge the gap using a classical circle method contraption known as *pruning* (also used in Appendix B). Adapting [VW91, Lemma 7.2], we can prune down to $q \leq (\log P)^A$. Finally, by adapting [VW91, Lemma 8.5], we prune down to $q \leq (\log P)^{1/4}$.

In order to tailor the classical theory to suit our needs, we begin with the observation that

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in S(m;R) \\ x \equiv \xi \bmod W}} e\left(\alpha \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{W} \sum_{t \bmod W} e\left(-\frac{\alpha}{kW} \xi^k - \frac{t}{W} \xi\right) \sum_{x \in S(m;R)} e\left(\frac{\alpha}{kW} x^k + \frac{t}{W} x\right). \quad (D.7)$$

The inner summation is a classical quantity with a linear twist.

Lemma D.4 (Minor arcs). Suppose $0 < \delta < (2k)^{-1}$, and let \mathfrak{m}_1 denote the set of real numbers γ with the property that if $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, $q \in \mathbb{N}$, (a,q) = 1 and $|q\gamma - a| \le P^{1/2 - k + \delta k}$ then $q > P^{1/2 + \delta k}$. Put

$$\iota(k) = \max_{\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}_{>2}} \frac{1}{4\lambda} (1 - (k - 2)(1 - 1/k)^{\lambda - 2}).$$

Then, assuming $\eta \leq \eta_0(\varepsilon, k)$, we have

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll P^{k+\varepsilon} (P^{-\delta} + P^{-\iota(k)}) \quad (\alpha \in kW\mathfrak{m}_1).$$

Remark D.5. We will later apply this with $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_k$, so that the condition $\eta \le \eta_0(\varepsilon, k)$ will be met.

Proof of Lemma D.4. Following the proof of [Vau89, Theorem 1.8], we find that if $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}_1$ and $1 \le m \le P$ then

$$\sum_{x \in S(m:R)} e\left(\frac{\alpha}{kW}x^k + \frac{t}{W}x\right) \ll P^{1+\varepsilon}(P^{-\delta} + P^{-\iota(k)}).$$

Indeed, already built into that proof are bounds uniform over linear twists; see [Vau89, Eq. (10.9)]. The sum above is over $x \in S(m; R)$, where $1 \le m \le P$, rather than over $x \in S(P; R)$, but we can assume that $\sqrt{P} \le m \le P$ and then run Vaughan's argument.

Now, by (D.7), we have

$$\sum_{\substack{x \in S(m;R) \\ x \equiv \xi \bmod W}} e\left(\alpha \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right) \ll P^{1+\varepsilon}(P^{-\delta} + P^{-\iota(k)}).$$

From this, partial summation gives

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) = \sum_{\substack{x \in S(P;R) \\ x = k \text{ mod } W}} x^{k-1} e\left(\alpha \frac{x^k - \xi^k}{kW}\right) \ll P^{k+\varepsilon} (P^{-\delta} + P^{-\iota(k)}).$$

Lemma D.6 (First pruning step). Suppose $R \leq M \leq P$, where $R = P^{\eta}$ as before. Suppose $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, $q \in \mathbb{N}$ with (a,q) = 1 and $|q\alpha - a| \leq M/(P^k R)$. Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ we have

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll_{\varepsilon,k,W,\eta} P^k(\log P)^3 q^{\varepsilon} \cdot ((q+P^k|q\alpha-a|)^{-1/(2k)} + (MR/P)^{1/2} + q^{1/2-1/(2k)}(R/M)^{1/2}).$$

Proof. By partial summation and (D.7), it suffices to show that if $\sqrt{P} \le m \le P$ then

$$\sum_{x \in S(m;R)} e\left(\frac{\alpha}{kW}x^k + \frac{t}{W}x\right)$$

$$\ll P(\log P)^3 q^{\varepsilon} \left((q + P^k | q\alpha - a|)^{-1/(2k)} + (MR/P)^{1/2} + q^{1/2 - 1/2k} (R/M)^{1/2}\right).$$

To show this, we work through the proof of [VW91, Lemma 7.2]; the inner sum of Eq. (7.4) therein becomes

$$S = \sum_{y \in I \cap \mathbb{Z}} e\left(\frac{\alpha}{kW} p^k (u_2^k - u_1^k) y^k + \frac{t}{W} p(u_2 - u_1) y\right),$$

where

$$I = (V/p, \min\{2V/p, m/(u_1p), m/(u_2p)\}]$$

is an interval of length at most V/p and u_1, u_2, p are the outer summation variables in [VW91, Eq. (7.4)]. With reference to that proof, we have

$$\begin{split} D &= \gcd(kWq, ap^k(u_2^k - u_1^k), tqkp(u_2 - u_1)) \ll_{k,W} (q, p^k(u_2^k - u_1^k)), \\ S &= \sum_{y \in I \cap \mathbb{Z}} e_{q'}(a'y^k + b'y)e(\beta y^k), \end{split}$$

where

$$Dq' = kWq$$
, $Da' = ap^k(u_1^k - u_2^k)$, $Db' = tkqp(u_2 - u_1)$, $gcd(a', b', q') = 1$, $\beta = \frac{p^k(u_2^k - u_1^k)}{kW}(\alpha - a/q)$.

Continuing to follow the proof of [VW91, Lemma 7.2], we now apply [Bak86, Lemma 4.4] and [Vau97, Theorems 7.1 and 7.3] in lieu of the more specific [Vau97, Lemma 2.8 and Theorems 4.1 and 4.2]. One can check that

$$|q\beta| \le (2k^2)^{-1} (V/p)^{1-k}$$
.

As $|I| \leq V/p$, this condition enables us to apply [Bak86, Lemma 4.4], giving

$$S = (q')^{-1} \sum_{x \le q'} e_{q'} (a'x^k + b'x) \int_I e(\beta z^k) \, \mathrm{d}z + O(q^{1 - 1/k + \varepsilon}).$$

The error term $RU^2q^{1/2+\varepsilon}$ in [VW91, Eq. (7.5)] is enlarged to $RU^2q^{1-1/k+\varepsilon}$, and the effect of applying [Vau97, Theorems 7.1 and 7.3] is to increase the quantity S_3 appearing therein by a multiplicative factor of $O_{\varepsilon,k,W}(q^{\varepsilon/8})$.

The remainder of the proof of [VW91, Lemma 7.2] carries through in the present context, *mutatis mutandis*. The eventual outcome of the changes above is to increase the term $q^{1/4}P(R/M)^{1/2}$ to $q^{1/2-1/(2k)}P(R/M)^{1/2}$, and we obtain the asserted bound.

Lemma D.7 (Second pruning step). Suppose $R = P^{\eta}$ with $0 < \eta < 1/2$, and that $a, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ with (a, q) = 1 and $1 < q < (\log P)^A$. Then for some $c = c(\eta, A)$ we have

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll_{\varepsilon,k,w,\eta,A,c} P^k(q+P^k|q\alpha-a|)^{\varepsilon-1/k} + P^k \cdot \exp(-c\sqrt{\log P})(1+P^k|\alpha-a/q|).$$

Proof. Again we apply partial summation and (D.7), leaving us to show that if $P^{0.99} \le m \le P$ then

$$g(\alpha) := \sum_{x \in S(m;R)} e\left(\frac{\alpha}{kW}x^k + \frac{t}{W}x\right)$$

$$\ll P(q + P^k|q\alpha - a|)^{\varepsilon - 1/k} + P \cdot \exp(-c\sqrt{\log P})(1 + P^k|\alpha - a/q|).$$

This time we follow the proof of [VW91, Lemma 8.5]. Writing $\beta = \alpha - a/q$, this initially formats our smooth Weyl sum as

$$\begin{split} g(\alpha) &= \sum_{\substack{d \mid kWq \\ q/d \in S(m;R)}} \sum_{\substack{y=1 \\ (y,d)=1}}^d e((kWq/d)^{k-1} y^k a/d + tkqy/d) \\ &\cdot \Psi\bigg(\frac{md}{kWq}, R; d, y, \frac{\beta(kWq/d)^k}{kW}\bigg), \end{split}$$

where

$$\Psi(Q, R; d, y, \gamma) = \sum_{\substack{z \in S(Q; R) \\ z \equiv y \bmod d}} e(\gamma z^k).$$

The calculation by Vaughan and Wooley in the proof of [VW91, Lemma 8.5] ensures that $\Psi(Q, R; d, y, \gamma)$ is, up to a small additive error, independent of y. As $m \leq P$ and $kW \ll_{k,W} 1$, the outcome of this calculation is unaffected, and we obtain

$$g(\alpha) \ll P(1 + P^k |\beta|)^{-1/k} \cdot \left(\exp(-c\sqrt{\log P}) + \sum_{d \mid kWq} \frac{d}{q\varphi(d)} |\mathcal{W}(d, a(kWq/d)^{k-1}, tkq)| \right),$$

where

$$\mathcal{W}(Q, A, B) = \sum_{\substack{y \bmod Q \\ (y, Q) = 1}} e_Q(Ay^k + By).$$

Our final task is to show that if $d \mid kWq$ then

$$\mathcal{W}(d, a(kWq/d)^{k-1}, tkq) \ll_{k,w,\varepsilon} q^{1-1/k+\varepsilon}$$
.

One may readily verify the usual multiplicativity property: if $(Q_1, Q_2) = 1$ then

$$W(Q_1Q_2, A, B) = W(Q_1, AQ_2^{k-1}, B) \cdot W(Q_2, AQ_1^{k-1}, B);$$
 (D.8)

see [Hua65, Lemma 8.1]. Next we analyse

$$\mathcal{W}(p^i, A, tkq),$$

when p is prime and $p^i \parallel d$. If p > w then $p^i \mid tkq$, so

$$W(p^{i}, A, tkq) = W(p^{i}, A, 0) \ll p^{i/2}(p^{i}, A)^{1/2}$$

using [VW91, Lemma 8.4]. Meanwhile, if $p \le w$ then we use the identity

$$W(p^{i}, A, tkq) = S(p^{i}, A, tkq) - S(p^{i-1}, Ap^{k-1}, tkq),$$

where

$$S(Q, A, B) = \sum_{y \le Q} e_Q(Ay^k + By).$$

Since p < w, we have

$$\gcd(p^i, A, tkq), \gcd(p^{i-1}, Ap^{k-1}, tkq) \ll_{k,w} (p^i, A),$$

so we may use [Vau97, Eq. (7.9)] to infer that

$$W(p^i, A, tkq) \ll_{k,w} (p^i, A)^{1/k} (p^i)^{1-1/k}$$
.

In both cases we have

$$|\mathcal{W}(p^i, A, tkq)| \le c_{k,w}(p^i, A)^{1/k}(p^i)^{1-1/k},$$

and inputting this into (D.8) reveals that

$$W(d, A, tkq) \ll q^{\varepsilon}(d, A)^{1/k} d^{1-1/k}$$

Apply this with $A = a(kWq/d)^{k-1}$. With this choice of A, we have

$$(d, A) \le (d, a)(d, (kWq/d)^{k-1}) \le (kWq, a)(d, (kWq/d)^{k-1})$$

 $\le kW(d, (kWq/d)^{k-1}).$

Letting $p^i \parallel d$ and $p^j \parallel kWq$ gives

$$(d, A) \ll_{k,w} \prod_{p} p^{\min\{i, (k-1)(j-i)\}},$$

and so

$$\mathcal{W}(d, a(kWq/d)^{k-1}, tkq) \ll q^{\varepsilon} \prod_{\substack{p^{i} \parallel d \\ p^{j} \parallel kWq}} p^{i(1-1/k)+k^{-1}\min\{i, (k-1)(j-i)\}}$$

$$\ll q^{\varepsilon} \prod_{\substack{p^{j} \parallel kWq \\ p^{j} \parallel kWq}} (p^{j})^{1-1/k} \ll q^{1-1/k+\varepsilon}.$$

To tie together what we have gleaned, we make a Hardy–Littlewood dissection. For $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $\mathfrak{M}(q, a)$ be the set of $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $|\alpha - a/q| \leq (\log P)^{1/4}/P^k$. Let $\mathfrak{M}(q)$ be the union of the sets $\mathfrak{M}(q, a)$ over integers a such that (a, q) = 1, and let \mathfrak{M} be the union of the sets $\mathfrak{M}(q)$ over $q \leq (\log P)^{1/4}$. By identifying \mathbb{T} with a unit interval, we may write $\mathfrak{M}(q)$ as a disjoint union

$$\mathfrak{M}(q) = \bigcup_{\substack{a=0\\(a,a)=1}}^{q-1} \mathfrak{M}(q,a).$$

First we consider the minor arcs $\mathfrak{m} := \mathbb{T} \setminus \mathfrak{M}$.

Lemma D.8. If $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}$ then $\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll_{\varepsilon,W,\eta} X(\log X)^{\varepsilon-1/4k}$.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}$. If $\alpha/(kW) \in \mathfrak{m}_1$, where \mathfrak{m}_1 is as in Lemma D.4 with $\delta = (4k)^{-1}$, then Lemma D.4 applies and is more than sufficient (recall (12.3)). We may therefore assume that $\alpha/(kW) \notin \mathfrak{m}_1$, and then deduce the existence of relatively prime integers q > 0 and a for which $q + P^k | q\alpha - a| \ll P^{3/4}$. If the 'natural height' $q + P^k | q\alpha - a|$ exceeds $(\log P)^{9k}$, then an application of Lemma D.6 with $M \times RP^{3/4}$ suffices. So we may suppose instead that $q + P^k | q\alpha - a| \leq (\log P)^{9k}$. As $\alpha \notin \mathfrak{M}$, we must also have

$$|q + P^k|q\alpha - a| \ge \max\{q, P^k|\alpha - a/q|\} > (\log P)^{1/4},$$

and now Lemma D.7 delivers the sought inequality.

We are ready to prove Lemma 12.4, in the case $k \ge 3$. As discussed at the beginning of this appendix, our task is to establish the estimate (D.1). It will be useful to have (12.3) and (12.9) in mind. By a geometric series calculation, we have

$$\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) = \sum_{x \le X} e(\alpha x) \ll \|\alpha\|^{-1}.$$
 (D.9)

First suppose $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}$. By Dirichlet's approximation theorem, we obtain relatively prime integers q and a such that

$$1 \le q \le (\log P)^{1/4}, \quad |q\alpha - a| \le (\log P)^{-1/4}.$$

As $\alpha \notin \mathfrak{M}$, we must have

$$||q\alpha|| = |q\alpha - a| > \frac{q(\log P)^{1/4}}{kWX},$$

so

$$\widehat{\mathbf{1}_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll \|\alpha\|^{-1} \ll \frac{q}{\|q\alpha\|} \ll \frac{WX}{(\log P)^{1/4}}.$$

By Lemma D.8, we now have (D.1).

Next we consider the case in which q=1 and $\alpha\in\mathfrak{M}(q)$, in other words $|\alpha|\leq(\log P)^{1/4}/P^k$. By Lemma D.1, we have

$$\hat{v}(\alpha) - \rho(1/\eta)I(\alpha) \ll \frac{P^k}{\log P}(1 + P^k ||\alpha||) \ll \frac{P^k}{\sqrt{\log P}}.$$
 (D.10)

By Euler–Maclaurin summation [Vau97, Eq. (4.8)], we have

$$\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) - I(\alpha) \ll 1 + X \|\alpha\| \ll \sqrt{\log P}. \tag{D.11}$$

Coupling (D.10) with (D.11) yields

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) - \rho(1/\eta) \widehat{\mathbf{1}_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll \frac{P^k}{\sqrt{\log P}} \ll X w^{-1/k},$$

and now (12.9) confirms (D.1).

Finally, let $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}(q, a)$ with $2 \le q \le (\log P)^{1/4}$ and (a, q) = 1, and put

$$\beta = \alpha - \frac{a}{a} \in \left[-\frac{(\log P)^{1/4}}{P^k}, \frac{(\log P)^{1/4}}{P^k} \right].$$

Substituting

$$\|\alpha\| \ge q^{-1} - |\beta| \ge q^{-1} - \frac{(\log P)^{1/4}}{P^k} \ge \frac{1}{2q}$$

into (D.9) gives

$$\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll q \ll (\log P)^{1/4}.$$

By Lemma D.1, we also have

$$\hat{v}(\alpha) \ll \frac{P^k}{\sqrt{\log P}} + X|q^{-1}S_{q,a}|,$$

and now Lemma D.2 yields (D.1).

We have established (D.1) for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}$, assuming $k \geq 3$.

D.2. Quadratic Weyl sums

The purpose of this subsection will be a proof of Lemmas 6.3 and 16.1, together with the k = 2 case of Lemma 12.4. In all of these cases k = 2, so $\eta = 1$, and the weight function is simpler, namely

$$\nu(n) = \begin{cases} x & \text{if } n = \frac{x^2 - \xi^2}{2W} \text{ for some } x \in [P] \text{ with } x \equiv \xi \mod W, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For the Fourier transform of this weight function, we can obtain a power saving on the minor arcs, as in [BP17]. This will be used in the next appendix, in the proof of the restriction estimate. We keep this brief, as the analysis is essentially the same as that of [BP17].

As discussed at the beginning of this appendix, we seek to establish (D.1). The Fourier transform is given by

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) = \sum_{\substack{x \le P \\ x = \xi \text{ mod } W}} xe\left(\alpha \frac{x^2 - \xi^2}{2W}\right).$$

The following is a straightforward adaptation of [BP17, Lemma 5.1].

Lemma D.9 (Major arc asymptotic). Suppose that $||q\alpha|| = |q\alpha - a|$ for some $q, a \in \mathbb{Z}$ with q > 0. Then

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) = q^{-1} S_{q,a} I(\alpha - a/q) + O_w(\sqrt{X}(q + X \| q\alpha \|)).$$

Lemmas D.2 and D.3 still hold when k = 2, with the same proof.

Following [BP17], put $\tau = \frac{1}{100}$, and to each reduced fraction a/q with $0 \le a < q \le X^{\tau}$ associate a major arc

$$\mathfrak{M}_2(q, a) = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\alpha - a/q| \le X^{\tau - 1} \}.$$

Let \mathfrak{M}_2 denote the union of all major arcs, and define the minor arcs by $\mathfrak{m}_2 = \mathbb{T} \setminus \mathfrak{M}_2$. The following is a straightforward adaptation of [BP17, Eq. (5.3)].

Lemma D.10. If $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}_2$ then

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll_{\varepsilon} X^{1-\tau/2+\varepsilon}$$

We proceed towards (D.1). Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{T}$. By (6.6), it suffices to prove that

$$\widehat{\nu}(\alpha) - \widehat{\mathbf{1}_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll X w^{-1/2}. \tag{D.12}$$

First suppose $\alpha \in \mathfrak{m}_2$. As in the proof of [BP17, Lemma 5.5], we have $\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll X^{1-\tau}$. Pairing this with Lemma D.10 yields (D.12).

Next, suppose $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}_2(q,a)$ for some coprime $q, a \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $0 \le a < q \le N^{\tau}$, where $q \ge 2$. Lemmas D.2, D.3 and D.9 give $\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ll Xw^{-1/2}$. Meanwhile $\|\alpha\| \ge (2q)^{-1}$, so

$$\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) \ll \|\alpha\|^{-1} \ll q \ll X^{\tau},$$

and now the triangle inequality yields (D.12).

Finally, when q = 1 and $\alpha \in \mathfrak{M}_2(1, 0)$, Lemma D.9 gives

$$\hat{\nu}(\alpha) - I(\alpha) \ll_w X^{1/2+2\tau}$$

and Euler-Maclaurin summation gives

$$\widehat{1_{[X]}}(\alpha) - I(\alpha) \ll X^{2\tau}.$$

The triangle inequality now furnishes (D.12).

We have examined all cases, thereby completing the proofs of Lemmas 6.3, 12.4 and 16.1.

Appendix E. Restriction estimates

In this section we prove the restriction estimates claimed in Lemmas 6.4, 12.5 and 16.2. The core elements of our setup are the same as in Appendix D, but we repeat all of this for clarity. Put $R = P^{\eta}$, and define P and X by (12.3). In the cases of Lemmas 6.3 and 16.1 let $\eta = 1$ and k = 2, and $\xi = 1$ in the latter scenario. Our weight function ν is defined by (12.8). When $k \geq 3$, we choose $\eta = \eta_k$ sufficiently small. We assume throughout that X is sufficiently large in terms of w.

Let $\phi : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ with $|\phi| \le \nu$ pointwise. For an appropriate restriction exponent p, our task is to establish the restriction inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^p \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll X^{p-1}. \tag{E.1}$$

The implied constant, in particular, will not depend on w. As

$$\|\hat{\phi}\|_{\infty} \le \|\phi\|_1 \le \|\nu\|_1 \ll X,$$
 (E.2)

it suffices to show this when

$$p = \begin{cases} 5 - \frac{1}{200} & \text{if } k = 2, \\ s_0(k) + 2 - \frac{1}{200} & \text{if } k \ge 4, \\ 8 - 10^{-8} & \text{if } k = 3, \end{cases}$$
 (E.3)

where $s_0(k) \in \mathbb{N}$ is as in Theorem 1.3. Fix this choice of p.

To summarise what is written above, we seek to establish the restriction inequality (E.1) when the exponent p is given by (E.3). This will prove Lemmas 6.4, 12.5 and 16.2 at one fell swoop.

Even moments play a key role, owing to the presence of an underlying Diophantine equation. In particular, they allow bounded weights to be freely removed. Let 2m be the greatest even integer strictly less than p.

Lemma E.1. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{2m} d\alpha \ll_{k,\varepsilon} \begin{cases} (WX)^{2m-1} & \text{if } k \ge 4, \\ X^{2m-1+\varepsilon} & \text{if } k = 2, \\ P^{15.25-10^{-4}} & \text{if } k = 3. \end{cases}$$

Remark E.2. The sixth moment estimate, for the case k = 3, has a slightly different flavour; it is a consequence of Wooley's 'subconvex' mean value estimate [Woo95]. It is this that ultimately enables us to procure a p-restriction estimate with p < 8.

Proof of Lemma E.1. By orthogonality and the triangle inequality,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{2m} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{2m(k-1)} \mathcal{N},$$

where \mathcal{N} is the number of solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in S(P; P^{\eta})^m \times S(P; P^{\eta})^m$ to the Diophantine equation

$$x_1^k + \dots + x_m^k = y_1^k + \dots + y_m^k$$

Note that adding a constant to $s_0(k)$ in the case $k \ge 4$ does not cause it to violate (1.3), and so we may assume that $2m \ge s_0(k)$ for the quantity $s_0(k)$ appearing in Theorem B.1. For $k \ge 4$ we therefore have, by Theorem B.1,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{2m} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll P^{2m(k-1)} P^{2m-k} = P^{k(2m-1)} \ll (WX)^{2m-1}.$$

The case k=2 is similar, as the crude bound $\mathcal{N} \ll_{\varepsilon} P^{2+\varepsilon/2}$ is standard. When k=3 the proof may be concluded using [Woo95, Theorem 1.2], which implies that $\mathcal{N} \ll P^{3.25-10^{-4}}$.

These estimates fall short of being sharp. By increasing the exponent, we are able to make them sharp, using Bourgain's epsilon-removal procedure [Bou89]. In the case k = 3, an additional intermediate exponent is required.

E.1. Epsilon-removal

In this subsection we assume that $k \neq 3$. The case k = 3 is treated in the next subsection by incorporating a small finesse. Denote by δ a parameter in the range

$$0 < \delta \ll 1$$
.

Define the large spectra

$$\mathcal{R}_{\delta} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)| > \delta X \},$$

and note from (E.2) that \mathcal{R}_{δ} is empty unless $\delta \ll 1$. By the dyadic pigeonholing argument in [BP17, §6], it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \ll \frac{1}{\delta^{p-10^{-8}} X}.$$
 (E.4)

Moreover, Lemma E.1 ensures that

$$(\delta X)^{2m} \operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \le \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{2m} d\alpha \ll_{k,\varepsilon} \begin{cases} (WX)^{2m-1} & \text{if } k \ge 4, \\ X^{3+\varepsilon/2} & \text{if } k = 2. \end{cases}$$

so we may assume without loss that

$$\delta > \begin{cases} W^{2(1-2m)} & \text{if } k \ge 4, \\ X^{-\varepsilon} & \text{if } k = 2, \end{cases}$$
 (E.5)

for any $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_R$ be X^{-1} -spaced points in \mathcal{R}_{δ} . As

$$p - 10^{-8} \ge 2k + 0.3,$$

it suffices to show that

$$R \ll \delta^{-2k-0.3}. (E.6)$$

Put $\gamma = k + 0.1$. By the calculation in [BP17, §6], we have

$$\delta^{2\gamma} X^{\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{1 < r, r' < R} |\hat{\nu}(\theta_r - \theta_{r'})|^{\gamma}. \tag{E.7}$$

First suppose $k \ge 4$. Consider $\theta = \theta_r - \theta_{r'}$ in the summand on the right-hand side of (E.7). By Lemma D.8, the contribution from $\theta \in \mathfrak{m}$ is

$$O(R^2(X(\log X)^{-1/(8k)})^{\gamma}),$$

and by (E.5) this is $o(\delta^{2\gamma} X^{\gamma} R^2)$. Hence

$$\delta^{2\gamma} X^{\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le r, r' \le R: \\ \theta = \theta_r - \theta_{p'} \in \mathfrak{M}}} |\hat{\nu}(\theta)|^{\gamma}. \tag{E.8}$$

If $\theta \in \mathfrak{M}(q, a)$ with (a, q) = 1 and $q \leq (\log P)^{1/4}$ then, by Lemmas D.1–D.3,

$$\hat{\nu}(\theta) \ll q^{-1/k} \min\{X, \|\theta - a/q\|^{-1}\} + \frac{P^k}{\log P} (q + P^k \|q\alpha\|)$$
$$\ll_k q^{-1/k} \frac{X}{1 + X|\theta - a/q|} + \frac{WX}{\sqrt{\log X}}.$$

With C a large positive constant, the contribution to the right-hand side of (E.8) from denominators $q > Q_1 := C + \delta^{-3k}$ is therefore bounded, up to a constant, by

$$R^2 X^{\gamma} (Q_1^{-\gamma/k} + W^{\gamma} (\log X)^{-\gamma/2}),$$

which, by (E.5), is negligible compared to the left-hand side of (E.8). Therefore

$$\delta^{2\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{1 \le r, r' \le R} G(\theta_r - \theta_{r'}), \tag{E.9}$$

where

$$G(\alpha) = \sum_{q \le Q_1} \sum_{a=0}^{q-1} \frac{q^{-\gamma/k}}{(1 + X|\sin(\alpha - a/q)|)^{\gamma}}.$$

The inequality (E.9) is very similar to [Bou89, Eq. (4.16)], but with N^2 replaced by X, and with $Q_1 \sim \delta^{-3k}$ rather than $Q_1 \sim \delta^{-5}$. The exponents differ but, since $\gamma > k$, Bourgain's argument carries through, and we obtain (E.6) in the case $k \geq 4$.

Now suppose k=2. Consider $\theta=\theta_r-\theta_{r'}$ in the summand on the right-hand side of (E.7). By Lemma D.10, the contribution from $\theta\in\mathfrak{m}_2$ is

$$O(R^2(X^{1-\tau/2+\tau^2})^{\gamma}),$$

and by (E.5) this is $o(\delta^{2\gamma} X^{\gamma} R^2)$. Hence

$$\delta^{2\gamma} X^{\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le r, r' \le R:\\ \theta = \theta_r - \theta_{r'} \in \mathfrak{M}}} |\hat{\nu}(\theta)|^{\gamma}. \tag{E.10}$$

If $\theta \in \mathfrak{M}_2(q, a)$ with (a, q) = 1 and $q \leq X^{\tau}$ then, by Lemmas D.2, D.3 and D.9, we have

$$\hat{\nu}(\theta) \ll q^{-1/2} \min\{X, \|\theta - a/q\|^{-1}\} + O_w(X^{1/2 + 2\tau}) \ll \frac{Xq^{-1/2}}{1 + X|\theta - a/q|}.$$

We obtain (E.9), but with k=2 in the definition of $G(\cdot)$, and Bourgain's argument again completes the proof.

E.2. An intermediate exponent

In this subsection let k = 3, and let η be a small positive constant as before. We proceed in two steps, effectively 'pruning' the large spectrum. In the first step, we use a power-saving minor arc estimate for an auxiliary majorant to come close to a sharp restriction estimate. In the second step, we no longer require a power saving on the minor arcs, so we are able to obtain a sharp restriction estimate by reverting to the majorant ν .

E.2.1. A close estimate. Here we concede a small loss. By slightly increasing the exponent, we will recover it in the next subsection. Our goal for the time being is to establish the following.

Lemma E.3. We have

$$\sup_{|\phi| \le \nu} \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^{8-10^{-6}} \, \mathrm{d}\alpha \ll X^{-1} (WX)^{8-10^{-6}}.$$

Similarly to the $k \neq 3$ case, it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \ll \frac{1}{\delta^{8-10^{-5}} X},$$

where it is now convenient to redefine

$$\mathcal{R}_{\delta} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)| > \delta W X \}.$$

Note that in this setting $\delta \ll W^{-1}$. Since Lemma E.1 implies that

$$(\delta WX)^6 \operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \leq \int_{\mathbb{T}} |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)|^6 d\alpha \ll P^{15.25-10^{-4}},$$

we may assume without loss that

$$\delta > P^{10^{-5} - 1/8}.$$
(E.11)

Let $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_R$ be X^{-1} -spaced points in \mathcal{R}_{δ} . It suffices to show that

$$R \ll \delta^{-6.3}.\tag{E.12}$$

For some $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|a_n| \leq 1$, we have $\phi(n) = a_n \mu(n)$, wherein we employ the majorant

$$\mu(n) = \begin{cases} x^2 & \text{if } n = \frac{x^3 - \xi^3}{3W} \text{ for some } x \le P \text{ with } x \equiv \xi \mod W, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

With $\gamma = 3.1$, the calculation in [BP17, §6] implies

$$\delta^{2\gamma}(WX)^{\gamma}R^2 \ll \sum_{r,r' \leq R} |\hat{\mu}(\theta_r - \theta_{r'})|^{\gamma}.$$
 (E.13)

Consider $\theta = \theta_r - \theta_{r'}$ in the summand. We require a circle method analysis. The majorant μ is very similar to the 'auxiliary majorant' from [Cho18, §5]. Therein, the calculations are based on partial summation and Roger Baker's estimates, as packaged in [Cho16, §2]. The same approach yields the following major arc estimate, where the corresponding set of minor arcs is

$$\mathfrak{n} := \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\mu}(\alpha)| \le P^{2.75 + 10^{-6}} \}.$$

Lemma E.4. If $\alpha \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \mathfrak{n}$ then there exist $q, a \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $0 \le a \le q-1$ and

$$\hat{\mu}(\alpha) \ll WXq^{\varepsilon - 1/3} (1 + X|\alpha - a/q|)^{-1/3}.$$

We continue the proof of Lemma E.3. In light of (E.11), the contribution from $\theta \in \mathfrak{n}$ to the right-hand side of (E.13) is $o(\delta^{2\gamma}(WX)^{\gamma}R^2)$, and so

$$\delta^{2\gamma}(WX)^{\gamma}R^{2} \ll \sum_{\substack{r,r' \leq R:\\ \theta \neq \mathfrak{n}}} |\hat{\mu}(\theta_{r} - \theta_{r'})|^{\gamma}.$$

With C a large positive constant and $Q_2 = C + \delta^{-9}$, we can use Lemma E.4 to obtain

$$\delta^{2\gamma} R^2 \ll \sum_{1 < r, r' < R} G_1(\theta_r - \theta_{r'}),$$

where

$$G_1(\theta) = \sum_{q \leq Q_2} \sum_{a=0}^{q-1} \frac{q^{\gamma(\varepsilon - 1/3)}}{(1 + X|\sin(\theta - a/q)|)^{\gamma/3}}.$$

As $\gamma(\varepsilon - 1/3) > 1$, the proof may be completed by Bourgain's argument, as in the previous subsection.

E.2.2. A sharp estimate. We are ready to prove (E.1); recall that $p = 8 - 10^{-8}$. This time let

$$\mathcal{R}_{\delta} = \{ \alpha \in \mathbb{T} : |\hat{\phi}(\alpha)| > \delta X \},$$

where $\delta \ll 1$. Following the same strategy, it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \ll \frac{1}{\delta^{8-10^{-7}} X}.$$

From Lemma E.3 we have

$$(\delta X)^{8-10^{-6}} \operatorname{meas}(\mathcal{R}_{\delta}) \ll W^8 X^{7-10^{-6}}$$

so we may assume without loss that

$$W^{-10^7} < \delta \ll 1.$$

With $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_R$ being X^{-1} -spaced points in \mathcal{R}_{δ} , it again suffices to prove (E.12). This time put $\phi(n) = a_n v(n)$, where $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|a_n| \le 1$. The calculation in [BP17, §6] then gives (E.7), and by the method of Subsection E.1 (in the $k \ge 4$ case) we obtain (E.9); once again Bourgain's argument carries through.

We have considered all cases, thereby completing the proof of Lemmas 6.4, 12.5 and 16.2.

Appendix F. Lefmann's criterion

In this section we prove Theorem 1.8, which is a consequence of Lefmann's lemma [Lef91, Fact 2.8]. The theorem is a special case of Theorem 1.3, but can be established more simply, and we presently provide a proof. By rearranging the variables, we may suppose that for some $t \in \{6, 7, ..., s\}$ we have

$$c_1 + \dots + c_t = 0. \tag{F.1}$$

Let

$$a := c_{t+1} + \cdots + c_s.$$

The case a=0 was treated by Browning and Prendiville [BP17] so, for simplicity, we assume henceforth that $a \neq 0$.

The following obscure fact was shown by Lefmann [Lef91, Fact 2.8].

Lemma F.1 (Lefmann). Let c_1, \ldots, c_s be non-zero integers. Assume that there exists $t \in [s]$ for which we have (F.1). Assume further that there exist $y \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ and $y_1, \ldots, y_t \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$c_1 v_1 + \dots + c_t v_t = 0$$
 (F.2)

and

$$ay^2 + c_1y_1^2 + \dots + c_ty_t^2 = 0.$$
 (F.3)

Then (1.8) is partition regular over \mathbb{N} .

To complete the proof of Theorem 1.8, it remains to prove that the system has a solution $(y, \mathbf{y}) \in (\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{Z}^t$. The number of such solutions in $[-P, P]^{t+1}$ is $\mathcal{N}_1 - \mathcal{N}_2$, where

 \mathcal{N}_1 is the total number of integer solutions $(y, \mathbf{y}) \in [-P, P]^{t+1}$ and \mathcal{N}_2 is the number of integer solutions $\mathbf{y} \in [-P, P]^t$ to

$$c_1y_1 + \dots + c_ty_t = c_1y_1^2 + \dots + c_ty_t^2 = 0.$$

Here P is a large positive real number.

Lemma F.2. We have

$$\mathcal{N}_2 \ll P^{t-3} \log P$$
.

Proof. Rogovskaya [Rog86] showed that the system

$$x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = y_1 + y_2 + y_3,$$

 $x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + y_3^2$

has $\frac{18}{\pi^2}P^3 \log P + O(P^3)$ solutions $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \in [P]^6$. By orthogonality, one can deduce from this that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left| \sum_{|x| \le P} e(\alpha_1 x + \alpha_2 x^2) \right|^6 d\alpha_1 d\alpha_2 \ll P^3 \log P.$$

As $t \ge 6$, the lemma now follows from orthogonality, Hölder's inequality, and the trivial bound $\sum_{|x| < P} e(\alpha_1 x + \alpha_2 x^2) \ll P$.

Lemma F.3. We have

$$\mathcal{N}_1 \gg P^{t-2}$$

Proof. Let

$$Q(y_1, \dots, y_{t-1}) = c_t^{-1} (c_1 y_1 + \dots + c_{t-1} y_{t-1})^2 + \sum_{i \le t-1} c_i y_i^2$$

=
$$\sum_{i \le t-1} (c_i + c_i^2 / c_t) y_i^2 + 2 \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le t-1} (c_i c_j / c_t) y_i y_j,$$

and put

$$C = |c_1| + \cdots + |c_t|.$$

Now \mathcal{N}_1 is greater than or equal to the number of integer solutions

$$(y, y_1, \dots, y_{t-1}) \in [-P/C, P/C]^t$$

to

$$ay^2 + Q(y_1, \dots, y_{t-1}) = 0$$

with $c_1y_1 + \cdots + c_{t-1}y_{t-1} \equiv 0 \mod c_t$. By considering only multiples of c_t , we find that \mathcal{N}_1 is greater than or equal to the number of integer solutions $\mathbf{x} \in [-P/C^2, P/C^2]^t$ to

$$Q_1(\mathbf{x}) := Q(x_1, \dots, x_{t-1}) + ax_t^2 = 0.$$

For the sake of brevity, we appeal to Birch's very general theorem [Bir61, Theorem 1]. The *Birch singular locus* is the set S of $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{C}^t$ at which the gradient of Q_1 vanishes identically. (In this instance, the Birch singular locus coincides with the usual singular locus.) We compute that

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_i Q(y_1, \dots, y_{t-1}) = (c_i + c_i^2/c_t)y_i + \sum_{\substack{j \le t-1 \\ j \ne i}} c_i c_j y_j/c_t,$$

and so

$$\frac{c_t}{2c_i}\partial_i Q = (c_t + c_i)y_i + \sum_{\substack{j \le t-1 \\ j \ne i}} c_j y_j = c_t (y_i - y_t) + \sum_{\substack{j \le t}} c_j y_j = c_t (y_i - y_t),$$

where $y_t := -c_t^{-1}(c_1y_1 + \cdots + c_{t-1}y_{t-1})$. Therefore

$$\mathcal{S} = \{(x, x, \dots, x, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^t\},\$$

and in particular dim S = 1.

As $t - \dim S > 4$, Birch's theorem [Bir61, Theorem 1] gives

$$\mathcal{N}_1 = \mathfrak{S}\mathfrak{J}P^{t-2} + O(P^{t-2-\delta}) \tag{F.4}$$

for some constant $\delta > 0$, where $\mathfrak S$ and $\mathfrak J$ are respectively the *singular series* and *singular integral* arising from the circle method analysis. Birch notes in [Bir61, §7] that $\mathfrak S$ is positive as long as Q_1 has a non-singular p-adic zero for each prime p, and that $\mathfrak J$ is positive as long as Q_1 has a real zero outside of $\mathcal S_1$. Note that Q has a zero $\mathbf x^* \in \mathbb Z^{t-1}$ with pairwise distinct coordinates; this follows from [Kei14, Theorem 1.1], or from a circle method analysis. Now $(\mathbf x^*,0)$ is a real zero of Q_1 outside of $\mathcal S_1$, and is also a non-singular p-adic zero for each p. Hence $\mathfrak S\mathfrak J>0$, and by (F.4) the proof is now complete.

The previous two lemmas yield $\mathcal{N}_1 > \mathcal{N}_2$ for P sufficiently large, and this completes the proof of Theorem 1.8.

Remark F.4. Lefmann's lemma generalises straightforwardly to higher degrees. We do not explore this avenue further, as any results thus obtained are likely subsumed by Theorem 1.3.

Funding. SC was supported by EPSRC Programme Grant EP/J018260/1. SL is supported by Ben Green's Simons Investigator Grant, number 376201. A portion of this project was completed whilst the authors were in residence in Berkeley, California during the Spring 2017 semester: SC and SL at the Mathematical Sciences Research Institute, and SP at the Simons Institute for the Theory of Computing. During this time SC was supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. DMS-1440140.

Acknowledgments. The authors have benefited greatly from Trevor Wooley's knowledge of discrete restriction theory over smooth numbers. Thanks to Ben Barber for enquiring about Rado's criterion over squares during a seminar at the University of Bristol, and for recording this question on Math-Overflow. Thanks to Xuancheng Shao for the idea of colouring smooth numbers. We are indebted to Jonathan Chapman for corrections, clarifications and numerous useful comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

References

[Bak86] Baker, R. C.: Diophantine Inequalities. London Math. Soc. Monographs (N.S.) 1, Clarendon Press, Oxford (1986) Zbl 0592.10029 MR 0865981

⁷ https://goo.gl/Yjookp.

- [Ber96] Bergelson, V.: Ergodic Ramsey theory—an update. In: Ergodic Theory of \mathbb{Z}^d Actions (Warwick, 1993–1994), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 228, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1–61 (1996) Zbl 0846.05095 MR 1411215
- [Ber16] Bergelson, V.: Mutually enriching connections between ergodic theory and combinatorics—lecture 7. CIRM lecture, https://bit.ly/2GNaL7d
- [BG16] Bergelson, V., Glasscock, D.: Interplay between notions of additive and multiplicative largeness. arXiv:1610.09771 (2016)
- [BL96] Bergelson, V., Leibman, A.: Polynomial extensions of van der Waerden's and Szemerédi's theorems. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 9, 725–753 (1996) Zbl 0870.11015 MR 1325795
- [Bir61] Birch, B. J.: Forms in many variables. Proc. Roy. Soc. Ser. A **265**, 245–263 (1961/62) Zbl 0103.03102 MR 0150129
- [Bou89] Bourgain, J.: On $\Lambda(p)$ -subsets of squares. Israel J. Math. **67**, 291–311 (1989) Zbl 0692.43005 MR 1029904
- [BDG16] Bourgain, J., Demeter, C., Guth, L.: Proof of the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem for degrees higher than three. Ann. of Math. 184, 633–682 (2016) Zbl 1408,11083 MR 3548534
- [BP17] Browning, T. D., Prendiville, S.: A transference approach to a Roth-type theorem in the squares. Int. Math. Res. Notices 2017, 2219–2248 Zbl 1405.11131 MR 3658196
- [Cha20] Chapman, J.: Partition regularity and multiplicatively syndetic sets. Acta Arith. 196, 109–138 (2020) Zbl 07301078 MR 4146371
- [Cho16] Chow, S.: Waring's problem with shifts. Mathematika **62**, 13–46 (2016) Zbl 1396.11058 MR 3430375
- [Cho18] Chow, S.: Roth-Waring-Goldbach. Int. Math. Res. Notices 2018, 2341–2374 Zbl 1441.11022 MR 3801486
- [Coo71] Cook, R.: Simultaneous quadratic equations. J. London Math. Soc. 4, 319–326 (1971) Zbl 0224.10021 MR 0289406
- [CRS07] Croot, E., Ruzsa, I. Z., Schoen, T.: Arithmetic progressions in sparse sumsets. In: Combinatorial Number Theory, de Gruyter, Berlin, 157–164 (2007) Zbl 1178.11011 MR 2337044
- [CGS12] Csikvári, P., Gyarmati, K., Sárközy, A.: Density and Ramsey type results on algebraic equations with restricted solution sets. Combinatorica 32, 425–449 (2012) Zbl 1286.11026 MR 2965285
- [CS17] Cwalina, K., Schoen, T.: Tight bounds on additive Ramsey-type numbers. J. London Math. Soc. **96**, 601–620 (2017) Zbl 1431.11024 MR 3742435
- [Dav2005] Davenport, H.: Analytic Methods for Diophantine Equations and Diophantine Inequalities. 2nd ed., Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (2005) Zbl 1125.11018 MR 2152164
- [Deu73] Deuber, W.: Partitionen und lineare Gleichungssysteme. Math. Z. 133, 109–123 (1973)
 Zbl 0254.05011 MR 0325406
- [DNL18] Di Nasso, M., Luperi Baglini, L.: Ramsey properties of nonlinear Diophantine equations. Adv. Math. 324, 84–117 (2018) Zbl 1376.05159 MR 3733882
- [DS16] Drappeau, S., Shao, X.: Weyl sums, mean value estimates, and Waring's problem with friable numbers. Acta Arith. **176**, 249–299 (2016) Zbl 1385.11052 MR 3580114
- [FGR88] Frankl, P., Graham, R. L., Rödl, V.: Quantitative theorems for regular systems of equations. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 47, 246–261 (1988) Zbl 0654.05002 MR 0930955
- [FH14] Frantzikinakis, N., Host, B.: Higher order Fourier analysis of multiplicative functions and applications. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 30, 67–157 (2017) Zbl 1355.11094 MR 3556289

[Fur77] Furstenberg, H., Ergodic behavior of diagonal measures and a theorem of Szemerédi on arithmetic progressions. J. Anal. Math. 31, 204–256 (1977) Zbl 0347.28016 MR 0498471

- [Grah07] Graham, R.: Some of my favorite problems in Ramsey theory. In: Combinatorial Number Theory, de Gruyter, Berlin, 229–236 (2007) Zbl 1124.05087 MR 2337049
- [Grah08] Graham, R.: Old and new problems in Ramsey theory. In: Horizons of Combinatorics, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 17, Springer, Berlin, 105–118 (2008) Zbl 1178.05094 MR 2432529
- [GRS90] Graham, R., Rothschild, B., Spencer, J. H.: Ramsey Theory. Wiley (1990) Zbl 0705.05061 MR 1044995
- [Gran08] Granville, A.: Smooth numbers: computational number theory and beyond. In: Algorithmic Number Theory: Lattices. Number Fields, Curves and Cryptography, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ. 44, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 267–323 (2008) Zbl 1230.11157 MR 2467549
- [Gre02] Green, B.: On arithmetic structures in dense sets of integers. Duke Math. J. **114**, 215–238 (2002) Zbl 1020.11010 MR 1920188
- [Gre05] Green, B.: Roth's theorem in the primes. Ann. of Math. **161**, 1609–1636 (2005) Zbl 1160.11307 MR 2180408
- [GL16] Green, B., Lindqvist, S.: Monochromatic solutions to $x + y = z^2$. Canad. J. Math. **71**, 579–605 (2019) Zbl 1439.11076 MR 3952491
- [GS16] Green, B., Sanders, T.: Monochromatic sums and products. Discrete Anal. **2016**, art. 5, 43 pp. Zbl 1400.11024 MR 3533304
- [GT10a] Green, B., Tao, T.: Linear equations in primes. Ann. of Math. **171**, 1753–1850 (2010) Zbl 1242.11071 MR 2680398
- [GT10b] Green, B., Tao, T.: An arithmetic regularity lemma, an associated counting lemma, and applications. In: An Irregular Mind, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 21, János Bolyai Math. Soc., 261–334 (2010) Zbl 1222.11015 MR 2815606
- [Har16] Harper, A.: Minor arcs, mean values, and restriction theory for exponential sums over smooth numbers. Compos. Math. 152, 1121–1158 (2016) Zbl 1362.11077 MR 3518307
- [Hei48] Heilbronn, H.: On the distribution of the sequence $n^2\theta$ (mod 1). Quart. J. Math. 19, 249–256 (1948) Zbl 0031.20502 MR 0027294
- [HKM16] Heule, M., Kullmann, O., Marek, V.: Solving and verifying the Boolean Pythagorean triples problem via cube-and-conquer. In: Theory and Applications of Satisfiability Testing—SAT 2016 (Bordeaux, 2016), Springer, 228–245 (2016) Zbl 1403.68226 MR 3534782
- [Hin79] Hindman, N.: Partitions and sums and products of integers. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **247**, 227–245 (1979) Zbl 0401.05012 MR 0517693
- [Hua65] Hua, L.-K.: Additive Theory of Prime Numbers. Transl. Math. Monogr. 13, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence (1965) Zbl 0192.39304 MR 0194404
- [Kei14] Keil, E.: On a diagonal quadric in dense variables. Glasgow Math. J. 56, 601–628 (2014) Zbl 1364.11030 MR 3250267
- [KS06] Khalfalah, A., Szemerédi, E.: On the number of monochromatic solutions of $x + y = z^2$. Combin. Probab. Comput. **15**, 213–227 (2006) Zbl 1093.11017 MR 2195583
- [Klo27] Kloosterman, H. D.: On the representation of numbers in the form $ax^2 + by^2 + cz^2 + dt^2$. Acta Math. **49**, 407–464 (1927) JFM 53.0155.01 MR 1555249
- [Lam16] Lamb, E.: Maths proof smashes size record. Nature **534**, 17–18 (2016)
- [Lê12] Lê, T. H.: Partition regularity and the primes. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 350, 439–441 (2012) Zbl 1275.11023 MR 2929045

- [Lef91] Lefmann, H.: On partition regular systems of equations. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 58, 35–53 (1991) Zbl 0746.05076 MR 1119700
- [LP12] Li, H., Pan, H.: A Schur-type addition theorem for primes. J. Number Theory **132**, 117–126 (2012) Zbl 1276.11016 MR 2843302
- [Mor17] Moreira, J.: Monochromatic sums and products in N. Ann. of Math. **185**, 1069–1090 (2017) Zbl 1430.05128 MR 3664819
- [NSS18] Noel, J., Scott, A., Sudakov, B.: Supersaturation in posets and applications involving the container method. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 154, 247–284 (2018) Zbl 1373.05197 MR 3718067
- [Pac18] Pach, P.: Monochromatic solutions to $x+y=z^2$ in the interval $[N, cN^4]$. Bull. London Math. Soc. **50**, 1113–1116 (2018) Zbl 1439.11077 MR 3891947
- [Pre17a] Prendiville, S.: Four variants of the Fourier-analytic transference principle. Online J. Anal. Combin. 12, art. 5, 25 pp. (2017) Zbl 1377.42003 MR 3680137
- [Pre17b] Prendiville, S.: Quantitative bounds in the polynomial Szemerédi theorem: the homogeneous case. Discrete Anal. **2017**, art. 5, 34 pp. Zbl 1404.11114 MR 3631611
- [Rad33] Rado, R.: Studien zur Kombinatorik. Math. Z. 36, 424–470 (1933) Zbl 0006.14603 MR 1545354
- [Rog86] Rogovskaya, N. N.: An asymptotic formula for the number of solutions of a system of equations. In: Diophantine Approximations, Part II, Moskov. Gos. Univ., Moscow, 78–84 (1986) (in Russian) Zbl 0648.10010 MR 0936656
- [Rot53] Roth, K. F.: On certain sets of integers. J. London Math. Soc. 28, 104–109 (1953) Zbl 0050.04002 MR 0051853
- [Sár78] Sárközy, A.: On difference sets of sequences of integers I. Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 31, 125–149 (1978) Zbl 0387.10033 MR 0466059
- [Sch1916] Schur, I.: Über die Kongruenz $x^m + y^m \equiv z^m \pmod{p}$. Jahresber. Deutsch. Math.-Verein. **25**, 114–117 (1916) JFM 46.0193.02
- [Var59] Varnavides, P.: On certain sets of positive density. J. London Math. Soc. 34, 358–360 (1959) Zbl 0088.25702 MR 0106865
- [Vau86] Vaughan, R. C.: On Waring's problem for cubes. J. Reine Angew. Math. 365, 122–170 (1986) Zbl 0574.10046 MR 0826156
- [Vau89] Vaughan, R. C.: A new iterative method in Waring's problem. Acta Math. **162**, 1–71 (1989) Zbl 0665.10033 MR 0981199
- [Vau97] Vaughan, R. C.: The Hardy–Littlewood Method. 2nd ed., Cambridge Tracts in Math. 125, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (1997) Zbl 0868.11046 MR 1435742
- [VW91] Vaughan, R. C., Wooley, T. D.: On Waring's problem: some refinements. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) **63**, 35–68 (1991) Zbl 0736.11058 MR 1105718
- [Wal00] Walters, M.: Combinatorial proofs of the polynomial van der Waerden theorem and the polynomial Hales–Jewett theorem. J. London Math. Soc. 61, 1–12 (2000) Zbl 0948.05056 MR 1745405
- [Woo92] Wooley, T. D.: Large improvements in Waring's problem. Ann. of Math. (2) 135, 131–164 (1992) Zbl 0754.11026 MR 1147960
- [Woo95] Wooley, T. D.: Breaking classical convexity in Waring's problem: sums of cubes and quasi-diagonal behaviour. Invent. Math. 122, 421–451 (1995) Zbl 0851.11055 MR 1359599
- [Woo12] Wooley, T. D.: The asymptotic formula in Waring's problem. Int. Math. Res. Notices **2012**, 1485–1504 Zbl 1267.11104 MR 3455880
- [Zha17] Zhao, L.: On translation invariant quadratic forms in dense sets. Int. Math. Res. Notices 2019, 961–1004 Zbl 07130863 MR 3915292